

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI PADOVA

Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Science

Second Cycle Degree (MSc) in

Biotechnologies for Food Sciences

Algal extracts as potential antiproliferative agents. Preliminary evaluation in canine tumour cell lines

Supervisor: Prof. Mauro Dacasto

Co-Supervisor: Greta Mucignat MSc Dr. Fatima Lakhdar

Submitted by: Neenu Amminikutty Student n. 2004934

ACADEMIC YEAR 2020-2021

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementvi
Abstractvii
List of Acronyms
List of Figuresix
List of Tablesx
Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Cancer : a worldly threat1
1.2 Natural Products as anticancer agents
1.3 Marine natural products as anticancer drugs
1.4 Marine Seaweeds
1.5 Anticancer and antioxidant potential of seaweeds
1.6 Properties of seaweeds of our interest
1.6.1 <i>Gracilaria cervicornis</i> 9
1.6.2 <i>Plocamium cartilagenium</i> 11
1.6.3 Laminaria ochroleuca12
1.6.4 Halopithys incurvus12
1.6.5 <i>Ellisonadia elongata</i> 13
1.7 Canine Mastocytoma15
1.7.1 Treatment
1.7.2 Receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK), tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKIs)
and canine MCT16
1.8 Canine Lymphoma
1.9 Canine MCT and lymphoma cell lines (C2 and CLBL-1, respectively)17
Chapter 2 SCOPE OF THE THESIS

Chapter 3 MATERIAL AND METHODS	20
3.1 Cell culture : Growth and maintenance	20
3.1.1 Preparation of Culture Medium for C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines	20
3.1.2 Cell Thawing for C2 and CLBL-1	21
3.1.3 Cell Freezing (C2 and CLBL-1)	22

3.1.3.1 Preparation of the Freezing medium
3.1.3.2 Cell freezing
3.1.4 Cell Counting
3.1.5 Cell Splitting
3.2 Cytotoxicity Assays25
3.2.1 Alamar Blue assay25
3.2.1.1 Preparation of Alamar Blue reagent25
3.2.1.2 Alamar Blue assay for cells
3.2.2 Sulforhodamine B-assay26
3.2.2.1 Preparation of Reagents27
3.2.2.2 SRB assay for the cells
3.2.3 Neutral Red Uptake assay
3.2.3.1 Preparation of reagents
3.2.3.2 Neutral Red Uptake assay for cells
3.3 Validation phase for C2
3.4 Validation phase for CLBL-1

Chapter 4 CYTOTOXICITY – ASSAY STUDIES	34
4.1 Preparation of Algal extract	34
4.2 Seeding of cells in 96-well plates	35
4.3 Cell incubation with the treatment (algal extract)	36
4.4 Screening examinations- Alamar Blue cytotoxicity assay-Using C2 cell lines	37
4.4.1. Screening assay - Gracilaria cervicornis (G.C.)	37
4.4.1.1. Dilution of Algal extract	37
4.4.1.2. Plating of cell suspension and treatment addition in 96-well plates	38
4.4.2. Screening assay – <i>Plocamium cartilagineum</i> (P.C.)	38
4.4.3. Screening assay – Halopithys incurvus (H.I.)	38
4.4.3.1. Dilution of Algal extract	39
4.4.3.2. Plating of cell suspension and treatment in 96-well plates	39
4.4.4. Screening assay – <i>Laminaria ochroleuca</i> (L.O.)	39
4.4.4.1. Dilution of Algal extract	40
4.4.4.2. Plating of cell suspension and treatment in 96-well plates	40

4.4.5. Screening assay – Ellisonadia elongata40
4.5 Screening examinations – Alamar Blue cytotoxicity assay- Using CLBL-1 cell lines
4.5.1. Screening assay - Gracilaria cervicornis (G.C.) (1% DMSO)42
4.5.1.1. Dilution of Algal extract42
4.5.1.2. Plating of cell suspension and treatment addition in 96-well plates43
4.5.2. Screening assay - <i>Plocamium cartilagineum</i> (P.C.)43
4.5.3. Screening assay - Gracilaria cervicornis (G.C.) (0.5% DMSO)43
4.5.3.1. Dilution of Algal extract
4.5.3.2.Plating of cell suspension and treatment addition in 96-well
plates44
4.6. Main assay – Alamar Blue, Sulforhodamine-B and Neutral Red Uptake-
Using C2 cell lines46
4.6.1. Main assays - Gracillaria cervicornis46
4.6.2. Main Assay – <i>Plocamium cartilagineum</i> 46
4.7. Data Analysis
4.7.1. Data analysis for the assays performed for C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines47
Chapter 5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
5.1. Screening Assay (AB)49
5.2. Confirmatory analysis (AB, SRB, and NRU)53
Chapter 6 CONCLUSION
REFERENCES
SITOGRAPHY

ACKOWLEDGEMENTS

Being granted to be a part of the Department of Comparative Biomedicine and Food Sciences, has been nothing short of great pleasure and an absolute honor.

I express my absolute sincere gratitude to Prof. Mauro Dacasto, my thesis supervisor, who guided my deeper understanding of the topics, discussed through the theoretical session, by availing and suggesting literature to use and for the motivation and enthusiasm that he shared.

I am deeply obliged to Prof. Mery Giantin, who has suggested my name for the project and has not only helped fine-tune my thesis and has given me intriguing and interesting questions to follow, to enable me to better understand the topic. Additionally, I am very grateful to Greta Mucignat, the researcher, who worked tirelessly, to help me better understand the laboratory activities and make the concept more clear and simple. She has always been there to clear my doubts, despite her busy schedule. Last but not the least, I took the time to thank Dr. Fatima Lakhdar, for the introduction of the new project and new concepts of cytotoxicity and made the idea into a reality.

Finally, I extend my special thanks to the almighty God, who has graced me with all the good that I see in my life, and my family who have been readily available for support, either emotional or financial, among others. I've had the opportunity to interface with several amazing people in Padova who had helped me directly or indirectly.

ABSTRACT

Algal extracts as potential antiproliferative agents. Preliminary evaluation in canine tumour cell lines

Different bioactive compounds with proven cytotoxic, antiproliferative, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and, immunomodulatory effects have been isolated from different marine sources, especially from macro and microalgae. Consequently, algae preparations are commonly and traditionally used as alternative medicines.

Canine mastocytoma and lymphoma are among the most frequently occurring neoplasms in dogs. Cancer chemotherapy is one of the most commonly adopted therapeutic approach in pets oncology. However, the adverse side effects of various chemotherapeutic drugs as well as, drug resistance developed by the tumours over time, are of primary concern.

In the present study, we investigate the antiproliferative and cytotoxic potential of the dichloromethane-methanolic (1:1 v/v) crude extract of four marine macroalgae, *Plocamium cartilagenium* (red alga), *Gracilaria cervicornis* (red alga), *Laminaria ochroleuca* (brown alga) and, *Halopithys incurvus* (red alga), from the Moroccan coast, using *in vitro* models of canine cancer, i.e. mastocytoma and lymphoma cell lines (C2 and CLBL-1 cells respectively).

The cytotoxic activity of the extracts was assessed using three different assays: Alamar Blue, Sulforhodamine B, and Neutral Red Uptake, which assess cell viability, proliferation, and permeability. The IC₅₀ and R² values (goodness of fit) were determined. In this preliminary comparative screening, the maximum percentage of cytotoxicity was induced by *G. cervicornis* and *P. cartilagenium*. The cytotoxic activity (*IC*₅₀) of these extracts in C2 cells was 26.14 μ g.mL⁻¹ and 50.94 μ g.mL⁻¹ respectively; in CLBL-1 cells 11.65 μ g.mL⁻¹ and 10.69 μ g.mL⁻¹.

From the IC_{50} values here obtained we can conclude that *G. cervicornis* displayed greater effectiveness against both the canine neoplasms, with CLBL-1 having a higher susceptibility to both extracts. Further studies are needed for bioactive compound isolation and a more exhaustive elucidation of their (main) respective cytotoxic mechanisms of action.

Keywords : Canine cell lines, Algae extract, Cytotoxicity, Alamar Blue, Sulforhodamine B, Neutral Red Uptake.

List of Acronyms

AB	- Alamar Blue
CLBL-1 DNA	Human Diffuse Large B-cell LymphomaDe-oxyribose Necleic Acid
EDTA	- Ethylene Di-amine Tetraacetate
EGF	- Epidermal Growth factor
FBS	- Foetal Bovine Serum
G.C.	- Gracilaria cervicornis
GC-MS	- Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry
GSH	- Glutathione
H.I.	- Halopithys incurvus
IARC	- International Agency for Research on Cancer
IC ₅₀	- Maximal inhibitory concentration 50%
L.O.	- Laminaria ochroleuca
LC-MS	- Liquid Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry
MCT	- Mast Cell Tumours
NEAA	- Non Essential Amino Acid
NRU	- Neutral Red Uptake
P.C.	- Plocamium cartilagenium
P/S	- Penicillin/ Streptomycin
PBS	- Phosphate Buffer Saline
\mathbb{R}^2	- Goodness of fit
ROS	- Reactive Oxygen Species
RTK	- Receptor Tyrosine Kinases
SRB	- Sulforhodamine B
TCA	- Trichloro Acetic Acid
TKIs	- Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors
WHO	- World Health Organisation

List of Figures

Figure 1: Chemical structure of some successful anticancer agents obtained from plants.....
Figure 2: Classification of marine seaweed.....
Figure 3a: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis* on C2, after AB assay (screening)......
Figure 3b: Dose response curve for *P. cartilagenium* on C2, after AB assay (screening).....
Figure 4a: Dose response curve for *L. ochroleuca* on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 5b: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis* on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 5b: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis* on CLBL-1, after AB analysis
Figure 5c: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis* on CLBL-1, after AB analysis, with a decreasing concentration of DMSO
Figure 6a: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis*, on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 6b: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis*, on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 6b: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis*, on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 6a: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis*, on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 6b: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis*, on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 6b: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis*, on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 6c: Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis*, on C2, after AB analysis
Figure 7a: Dose response curve for *P. cartilagenium*, on C2, after AB analysis
(confirmatory)

Figure 7b: Dose response curve for P. cartilagenium, on C2, after SRB analysis

Figure 7c: Dose response curve for P. cartilagenium, on C2 after NRU analysis

List of Tables

- Table 1: List of some important anticancer bioactive compounds isolated from marine natural products
- Table 2: Main Gracilaria species and their biological effects
- Table 3: Main Laminaria species and their biological effects
- Table 4: RPMI 1640 Medium Composition used for C2 (Complete Culture Medium)
- Table 5: RPMI 1640-Medium Composition used for CLBL-1
- Table 6: Freezing Medium Composition
- Table 7: Composition of Trypan Blue dye exclusion test mixture
- Table 8: Schematic representation of the addition of cell suspension in each well for AB Assay
- Table 9: Schematic representation of the addition of sC2 cell suspension in the wells for SRB and NRU assays.
- Table 10: Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell suspension in the wells for

AB assay.

- Table 11: Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell lines for SRB assay
- Table 12: Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell lines for NRU assay
- Table 13: Schematic representation of the addition of cell suspension in each well for

 different concentrations of algae extracts
- Table 14: Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell suspension in each well

 for different concentrations of algae extracts
- Table 15: IC₅₀ and R² values for C2, produced by *G. cervicornis*
- Table 16: IC₅₀ and R² values for C2, produced by *P. cartilagenium*

<u>1. INTRODUCTION</u>

1.1 Cancer: a worldly threat

The 21st century's advancement in science and technology, made a tremendous progress in the medical field, especially in the case of "deadly" diseases, whose ultimate result is the death of the person. Cancer is such a disease, with utmost priority. Globally, it is one of the leading causes of death, which can happen due to one of the following three reasons or altogether: (a) an incorrect lifestyle (unhealthy diet); (b) environmental pollution (c) genetic predisposition (Sakthivel, R., & Devi, K. P., 2019). Under normal situations a balance is usually maintained between cellular proliferation and programmed cell death; however a mutation in DNA can cause alterations in this balance and makes the cells divide in an uncontrolled way, thereby resulting in the formation of a malignant mass (tumour) that can spread to different locations (metastasized) (Suarez-Jimenez, G. M. et al., 2012). Efforts have been made consistently, to fight against this disease. Chemotherapy is considered, together with radiotherapy and immunotherapy, as one of the options for cancer treatment, even though most of anticancer drugs are cytotoxic to normal cells, too. Actually in the past few years the advancements in cellular and molecular biology led to the introduction of potent anticancer agents that are capable of targeting cancerous tissues with minimum side effects (Kaur, K. et al., 2014).

More than one hundred physical, chemical, and biological carcinogens have been mentioned by the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Agency of Research on Cancer (IARC), in 2014 Oncological research led to the discovery of new carcinogens and their mechanisms of action. As affirmed by Serota and Yuppa, in their review of- "The Emperor of all maladies, The Biography of Cancer ", by Siddhart Mukherjee, "We must focus on prolonging life, rather than eliminating death". Since the history of cancer is evolving, brand new discoveries happen daily in laboratories all around the world, and one thing we have to keep in mind is that cancerous cells are a "more perfect version of normal cells they grow faster and adapt better to their respective environment" (Serota, R., 2011, Yuppa. D.P., 2012).

1.2 Natural products as anticancer drugs

Considering their remarkable diversity, natural products are always considered a rich reservoir of bioactive compounds having therapeutic properties. It is quite astonishing to know that, about half of the drugs used for the anticancer treatment have been natural products or either semi-than fully synthetic compounds directly derived from them. A notable number of products are commonly extracted from plants, animals, microorganisms, and even from the marine population. It is estimated there are more products with different chemical diversities that can be useful for the treatment of about 87% of human ailments *(Newman, D. J., & Cragg, G. M., 2016, Ramasamy, K., & Agarwal, R., 2008)*. Some anticancer drugs originate from natural sources: - irinotecan, vincristine, etoposide, and paclitaxel are derived from plants, actinomycin D, mitomycin C from bacteria while, bleomycin, is of marine origin. Some of these compounds are still used for cancer therapy and they will continue to play an important role in the unforeseen future (*Huang, M. et al., 2021*). From ancient times, natural products isolated from medicinal plants have been used, and the first use was dated back to Mesopotamia in 2600 BC (*Borchardt, J. K., 2002, Cragg, G. M., & Newman, D. J., 2013*).

Vinca alkaloids from the plant *Catharanthus roseus* are the second most used anticancer drugs. They were first used in combination with other anticancer drugs, for the treatment of lymphoma, leukemia, advanced testicular cancer, lungs, and breast cancer. These alkaloids are generally classified as cell cycle-specific cytotoxic drugs. In addition, they also have the ability to prevent *in vitro* malignant angiogenesis. They disrupt the microtubules' function by developing synergy with tubulin and thereby leading to cell death. At present, the new synthetic vinca alkaloid vinflunine, has gained approval in Europe for cancer treatment (*Dey, P. et al., 2020*).

However, the process of botanical drug discovery and development suffers of a number of challenges such as., the availability, the isolation and identification of the bioactive compound and its exact mechanism of action, the difficulty in specimen collection, and the incompatibility toward the high throughput screening (*Dutta, S. et al., 2019*) Additionally, the identified active principle is not effective principle is not enough and does not match the expectations. Finally, their approval rate by the US Food and Drug Administration is quite low (*Scannell, J. W. et al., 2012*).

As a whole, these reasons at least in part justify why the pharmaceutical companies shifted their focus toward the manufacturing of synthetic drugs or semi-synthetic derivatives. The chemical structure of some of the successful anticancer agents derived from plants is shown in **Figure 1**.

1.3 Marine natural products as anticancer drugs

About 70% of the earth's surface is covered by oceans, which are the richest sources of various bioactive compounds. It has also been reported that the marine ecosystem is more biologically diverse than the tropical rainforest (*Tadesse, S., 2018*). As to Darwin's theory of "Survival of the fittest", and each organism's adaptation to its immediate environment, a large number of species have evolved by chemical means to protect themselves from predators. Thus, this adaptation resulted in the synthesis of secondary metabolites, which include terpenoids, polyketides, alkaloids, sugars and, peptides (*Haefner, B., 2003*).



Figure 1. Chemical structure of some successful anticancer agents obtained from plants. (A) Vincristine (B) Vinblastine (C) Paclitaxel (D) Podophyllotoxin.

As compared with terrestrial natural products, the identification, study, and usage of marine natural products are in their growing phase (Simmons, T. L. et al., 2005). Studies showed that these compounds can affect carcinogenesis either in vitro than in vivo. They also exhibited greater affinity and specificity to interact with specific intracellular signaling endoplasmic reticulum stress induction, autophagy, mitochondrial pathways, like dysfunction, apoptosis, and inflammation (Alves, C., & Diederich, M., 2021). The xanthophyll carotenoid, astaxanthin, that can be found in many marine species like microalgae, fungi, bacteria, sea urchins, sea snails, etc., decrease the level of certain markers of stemness, i.e., the homebox protein NANOG (NANOG) and the octamer-binding transcription factor 4(Oct-4), in breast carcinoma cells. It also shows antiproliferative effects in the aggressive prostate cancer DU145 cells, triggering cell death by apoptosis and reducing invasion and migration abilities (Galasso, C. et al., 2017, Ahn, Y. T. et al., 2020, Sun, S. Q. et al., 2020). The flaccidoxide-13-acetate diterpenoid, another compound of interest, isolated from the marine soft coral Sinularia gibberosa, was proved to decrease cell viability, migration, and invasion in hepatocellular carcinoma (Wu, Y. J. et al., 2020). Jiang and coworkers studied the cytotoxic properties of three compounds isolated from Penicillium chrysogenum LD 201810, a marine alga-associated fungus: a pentaketide derivative (penilactonol A), and two hydroxy-phenylacetic acid derivatives [(2'R)-stachyline B and (2'R)-westerdijkin A]. This latter one showed significant cytotoxic activity against the hepatocellular carcinoma cell line HepG2 (Jiang, L.L., et al., 2020).

Marine organisms are also source of tyrosine kinase receptor inhibitors. A brominated tyrosine derivative from the sponge *Verongia aerophobia* (Aeroplysinin-1), showed an inhibitory effect on the purified epidermal growth factor (EGF) kinase activity, blocking EGF-stimulated proliferation either in cancer cell lines by inducing apoptosis at high nanomolar concentrations than *in vivo* by suppressing angiogenesis (*Kreuter, M. H. et al., 1990, Hinterding, K. et al., 1998, Rodríguez-Nieto, S. et al., 2002*).

Overall, more than thousands of bioactive compounds with diverse biological activity have been reported in the past 20 years; this clearly proves the marine environment as an excellent and potentially rich source of bioactive compounds. However, one of the biggest challenges in bioprospecting and pharmacological application of marine natural products is their low extraction yield, which could compromise the supply chain in the pre-clinical and clinical trials, fundamental steps in the drug development process. Many strategies have been adopted for overcoming such a problem, e.g., aquaculture/cultivation, genetic engineering, semi-synthesis, synthesis, and chemical modifications (*Lindequist*, *U.*, 2016).Some anticancer compounds isolated from some marine organisms and their mechanisms of action are shown in **Table 1**.

1.4 Marine Seaweeds

Over the past few decades, promising progress have been made in the isolation and screening of biological activity of seaweeds, and some of them have been proved to possess a potential medicinal value (*Koyanagi, S. et al., 2003*). Moreover, they have also been proved to be an excellent source of bioactive compounds having anticancer, anti-inflammatory, antiviral, cytotoxic, and anti-mitotic activities (*Bhosale, S. H. et al., 2002, Naqvi, Solimabi, S. A. et al., 1981*). Among the various bioactive molecules with potential therapeutic effects we include polyphenols (*Li, Y. X. et al., 2011*), terpenoids (*Culioli, G. et al., 2004*), polysaccharides (*Wijesekara, I. et al., 2011*), and meroterpenoids (*Valls, R. et al., 1993*).

Table 1. List of some important anticancer bioactive compounds isolated from marine natural products.

Bioactive compound	Source	Mechanism of action	References
Cytarabine	sponge	inhibition of DNA synthesis	[1,2]
Dolastatin 10	sea hare	pro-apoptotic effects and inhibition of microtubule assembly	[1,2]
Ecteinascidin 743	tunicate	alkylation of DNA	[1,2]
Aplidine	tunicate	inhibition of cell cycle progression	[1,2]
Halichondrin B	sponge	interaction with microtubule function	[1,2]
Spirulan	alga	inhibition of heparanase	[3]

Tolyprophin	alga	Inhibition of sterol O-acyl transferase	[3]
Stypodiol	alga	promotion of tubulin polymerization	[3]

*For references:-

- 1: Fenical, W., 1982.
- 2: Schwartsmann, G. et al., 2001
- 3: Mayer, A. M., 1999

Seaweeds (also known as marine microalga) are primitive plant species that lack true stems, roots, and leaves, unlike higher plants; instead, the body of seaweed (thallus), comprises holdfast, stipe, and blade. They are responsible for the production of about half of the world's oxygen and are also the primary producers of the ocean food chain. The marine algae include the invisible unicellular microalgae, which form the phytoplankton together with cyanobacteria, and multicellular macroalgae, generally called as seaweed, which is larger, more visible, and complex. Seaweeds can be found along the coastal areas, on the floor of continental shelves, and sometimes washed up in the intertidal zones. Traditionally, marine algae can be classified into *Rhodophyta* (red algae), *Phaeophyta* (brown algae), *Chlorophyta* (diatoms and golden brown algae), and, finally, *Chlorophyta* (microscopic green algae). A broad classification of algae is shown in **Figure.2**.

(https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Marine primary production).



Figure 2. Classification of marine seaweed.

It has been estimated that about 150,000 seaweeds are present in the intertidal zones and the tropical water of the ocean. Some seaweeds can be consumed directly and some can be utilized for the production of substances used as food ingredients, fertilizers, and animal feed supplements, too. Among the seaweed most common extracts we include; alginates, agaragar, and carrageenan. Furthermore, seaweed extracts may contain significant levels of plant growth hormones such as auxins, gibberellins, and cytokines. *Ascophyllum nodosum* is a seaweed harvested from mineral-rich water, and it is considered as the best seaweed extract (*Bocanegra, A. et al., 2009, Pal, A. et al., 2014, De Almeida, C.L.F. et al., 2011*).

Studies showed that the green seaweeds contain sulfuric acid polysaccharides and sulfated galactans, whereas the red algae contain floridean starch, carrageenan, mucopolysaccharide, and water-soluble sulfated galactans. Fucoidan or sulfated fucose, laminarian or β -1,3-glucan, and alginic acid are the main components of brown seaweed. The seaweed polysaccharide is effective as an antitumour, antiviral, and anticoagulant agent, preventing large intestine cancer, diabetes, and obesity; moreover, it decreases, low-density lipid cholesterol in rats (*De Almeida, C.L.F.et al., 2011*).

1.5 Anticancer and antioxidant potential of seaweeds

The general composition of marine algae includes carotenoids, pigments, terpenes, polyphenols, phycobiliproteins, phlorotannins, and polysaccharides. The type and the amount of these constituents vary with the species and also with algae ability to interact with the environmental factors such as, water pressure, salinity, and radiation (Gutiérrez-Rodríguez, A. G. et al., 2018). Along with the aforementioned compounds, algae, also are a rich source of minerals like iron, zinc, magnesium, and iodine, as well as vitamins, lipids, and fiber. Some studies showed that among all the compounds mentioned above, terpenes, polysaccharides, and polyphenols, are biologically relevant and potentitially responsible for anticancer activity (Senthilkumar, K. et al., 2013, Atashrazm, F. et al., 2015, Peng, J. et al., 2011). Polysaccharides isolated from the red alga, Gracilariopsis lemaneiformis, comprise 3,6-anhydro-L-galactose and D-galactose, and a linear structure of repeated disaccharide agarobiose units. These compounds were, cytotoxic on A549 (human lung cancer), B16 (mouse melanoma), and, MKN-28 (gastric cancer) cell lines (Kang, Y. et al., 2017). The sulfated polysaccharides extracted from the brown alga Sargassum vulgare showed antiangiogenic activity and inhibited cell proliferation in HeLa and B16 cell lines (Dore, C.M.P.G. et al., 2013). Polysaccharides isolated from Ulva lactuca, a widely distributed green alga, exhibited in vitro and in vivo activity against breast cancer in Wistar rats along with a chemopreventive effect (Abd-Ellatef, G. E. F. et al., 2017). Fucoidans are sulfated polysacahrides found in number of brown algae. One of these polysaccharides, isolated from Fucus evanescens, exhibits anti-tumour and anti-metastatic effects in C57B1/6 mice transplanted with lung adenocarcinoma (Alekseyenko, T.V. et al., 2007). Another one, extracted from the brown seaweed Cladosiphon okamuranus expesses strong and dosedependent pro-apoptotic activity on MCF-7 cells by activating caspase-3 and inducing DNA

fragmentation (*Teruya, T. et al., 2007*). Production of ROS is an important matter of concern. ROS over production results in cellular damage, genomic stability and, carcinogenecity.

Production of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) is an important matter of concern. Indeed, the increasing amounts of ROS, along with the incompetency of the cellular antioxidant response, are the main reason for the onset of cellular oxidative stress. Basically, ROS can interact with a number of cellular targets including lipids, proteins and, DNA, ultimately resulting in cellular damage, genomic instability, and progression of tumourigenic cells (*Kashyap, D. et al., 2019*).

Cells possess various anti-ROS mechanisms of defense, essentially referable to the prevention of ROS, excessive production or the activation of antioxidants (e.g., enzymes) to convert them into harmless species. The sulfated polysaccharide, fucoidan, mostly localized in the cell wall of marine brown algae, show a high ROS scavenging activity in vitro without causing any cytotoxic effect at the concentration of 2mg.mL⁻¹. Furthermore, it seems to increase the production of glutathione (GSH) and restored the catalase activity in HepG2 cell line (Chale-Dzul, J. et al., 2017). The carotenoid fucoxanthin and the polyphenolic compound phloroglucinol, both from the brown seaweeds, show anticancer and antioxidant effects on two human colorectal cancer cell lines (HCT116 and HT-29), without causing any effect on normal cells (Lopes-Costa, E. et al., 2017). The ethanol extract of the red algae *Callophyllis japonica*, subdues the H_2O_2 induced apoptosis and increases the cellular antioxidant enzyme activity. The aqueous extract of Gracilaria tenuistipitata (a red algae), increases the recovery of H1299 (an epithelial-like lung carcinoma cell line) cells from H₂O₂induced DNA damage; moreover, it inhibits cell proliferation (Lee, J. C. et al., 2013, Ji, Y. et al., 2012). Data from animal model studies reveal that the hot water extraction of the green alga, Ulva reticulata, reduced hepatic stress in albino rats through free radical scavenging effects (Balaji Raghavendra Rao, H. et al., 2004).

1.6 Properties of seaweeds of our interest:

1.6.1 Gracilaria cervicornis

The genus *Gracilaria* belongs to red algae (phylum-*Rhodophyta*). It is known for its economic importance as an agarophyte and also because of its use as a food product for humans and various species of shellfish. It is generally found in warm waters, and cannot

survive at temperatures below 10 °C and it is present in all the oceans except the Arctic. It is number of of red in terms of the the largest genera algae species (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gracilaria),(McLachlan, J., & Bird, C. J., 1984). Previous studies have been proved that these algae are particularly enriched with fatty acids; in particular, several Gracilaria species, including G. cervicornis, mostly contain hexadeconic acid (50.49%), tetradeconic acid (5.32%) and, octadeconis acid (4.66%) (Torres, PB., 2017, de Andrade Tomaz, A. C. et al., 2012). Nevertheless, the alga composition can be influenced by the extraction protocol and the solvents used for the extraction (Martins, R. M. et al., 2018). The dichloromethane/methanol extract (3:1) of G.cervicornis showed fungistatic activity against candida species when used in combination with commercial antifungals like fluconazole (Sampaio, T.M.M. et al., 2022). Furthermore, many Gracilaria species show anti-proliferative, anti-inflammatory, and antioxidant properties. The foremost Gracilaria species and their biological effects are reported in Table 2.

Species	Biological activity	Cell line or rodent species	References
G.tenuistipitata	Anti-proliferative	Ca9-22 human oral squamous carcinoma	[1]
G.corticata	Anti-proliferative	MCF-7 human breast cancer	[2]
G.edulis	Anti-carcinogenic	A549 human lung adenocarcinoma	[3]
G.cornea	Anti-inflammatory (inhibits paw edema induced by carrageenan and dextran)	Rat	[4]

Table 2. Main Gracilaria species and their biological effects.

G. changii	Anti-inflammatory (inhibits TNF- α level of response and TNF- α and IL-6 gene expression)	Rat	[5]
G. fisheri	Anti-tumour (delayed cell migration; inhibits EGFR and MAPK phosphorylation	HuCCA-1 Human cholangiocarcinoma cells.	[6]

*For reference:-

- 1: (Yeh, C.C. et al., 2012)
- 2: (Namvar, F. et al., 2014)
- 3: (Sakthivel, R. et al., 2016)

4: (Coura, C.O. et al., 2015)

5: (Shu, M. H. et al., 2013)

6: (Sae-Lao, T. et al., 2017)

1.6.2 *Plocamium cartilagineum*

Plocamium cartilagineum, from the family, *Plocamiaceae*, is an erect red alga that grows about 10 cm in height. Distributed worldwide, it has been extensively studied. *Plocamium* species are generally famous for the presence of halogenated monoterpenes, more chlorinated in comparison to compounds found in other taxa of red macroalgae. The most abudant monoterpenes identified in *Plocamium cartilagenium* are Meretensene and violacene. These compounds show insecticidal activity against tomato moths and cereals green bugs (*Argandoña, V. et al., 2000, Shilling, A. J. et al., 2021*). A number of polyhalogenated terpenes from *Plocamium cartilagineum*, are cytotoxic against CT26 (murine colon adenocarcinoma), SW480 (human colon adenocarcinoma), HeLa (human

cervical adenocarcinoma), and SkMel28 (human malignant melanoma) cell lines (*de Inés, C. et al., 2004*). Other species of the genus *Plocamium*, showed beyond doubt anti-proliferative effects in WHCO1 (human esophageal cancer) cell line (*Antunes, E.M. et al., 2011*).

1.6.3 Laminaria ochroleuca

Large brown alga in the order *Laminariales*, also called 'golden kelps', due to their blade coloration. It is frequently found in the northern hemisphere, from Morocco to the south of England (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Laminaria_ochroleuca). Different species of *Laminaria* are used in food and cosmetics industries due to their flavor and other biological properties (*Kim, S. K. (Ed.)., 011*). The primary constituents of these brown algae are polysaccharides, and the sulfated polysaccharide from *sssas* exhibits high anti-cancer activity in a human colon cancer cell line (HTC-116), with a half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) of 0.114 mgmL⁻¹), as well as in human malignant melanoma, breast adenocarcinoma, and leukemia. Some authors have reported that sulfated polysaccharides from brown algae have diverse applications as an antioxidant, anticoagulant, antiviral, anti-hyperlipidemic, and anti-tumour agents (*Abdala Díaz, R. T. et al., 2019*). Another component of *Laminaria* species, laminarin (a storage glucan), showed anti-proliferative and pro-apoptic effects in the human colon adenocarcinoma cell line (HT-29) (*Park, H. K. et al., 2012*). Some important Laminaria species with noticeable effects in **Table 3**.

1.6.4 Halopitys incurvus

Halopitys incurvus or Halopithys incurva is a red seaweed belonging to the family *Rhodomelaceae*. The generic name of this particular genus means "sea pine", and the term "incurvus" explains the shape of the branches ("bending inwards" or "bowed"). This particular algae is quite rare, but it can be found, all throughout the year. It is particularly present in the Mediterranean sea, and generally on rocky substrates (*Batters, E.A.L., 1902., Vasarri, M. et al., 2020*). Among seaweeds, the red algae contain the highest amount of halogenated compounds. In particular, *H. incurvus* is rich in total phenolic content with proven anti-oxidant properties (*Chibi, F. et al., 2018*). Previous studies showed that *H. incurvus* extracts possess antibacterial, antiplasmodial, antiviral and, well-fortified anti-inflammatory properties (*Oumaskour, K. H. A. D. I. J. A. et al., 2013, Spavieri, J., et al.,*

2013, Allmendinger, A. et al., 2010). In HT-29 human adenocarcinoma cell line, it exhibits polysaccharide-mediated immunomodulatory effects (*Díaz, R. T. A., Chabrillón, M. et al., 2011*), along with antitumour and antioxidant potential (*Zbakh, H. et al., 2014*). This alga is a candidate of interest; nevertheless, little is known about its biological activity.

Species	Biological activity	Cell line or rodent species	References
L. digitata	Anticancer (proapoptotic)	HT-29 Human colon cancer	[1]
L. sacchaina	Anti-inflammatory (inhibts leukecyte recruitment and neutrophils adhesion to platelets <i>in vivo</i>	Rat	[2]
L. cichorioides	Anti-tumour(inhibits cell growth	DLD-1 and HT-29 human colon cancer	[3]
L. japonica	Anti-tumour	A375 and BGC823 Human melanoma and gastric carcinoma	[4]

Table 3. Main Laminaria species and their biological effects.

*For reference:-

- 1: (Hussain, E. et al., 2016)
- 2: (Croci, D.O. et al., 2011)
- 3: (Imbs, T. I. et al., 2009)
- 4: (Peng, Z. et al., 2012

e. Ellisonadia elongata

Ellisonadia elongata is a, red limestone alga with calcareous consistency. Also known as "common coral", it belongs to the family of *Corallinaceae*, red algae. It is branched, erect, grows up to 10-12 cm in height, and mainly survives on sea rocky bottoms (<u>https://it.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ellisolandia_elongata</u>). Very little information about its biological activity exists. However, *E. elongata* methanolic extracts show the highest antibacterial activity against *Staphylococcus aureus*. Moreover, it exhibits a remarkable antioxidant scavenging effect (*Sahnouni, F. et al., 2021*). Finally, *E. elongata* is considered as a good bioindicator of organic pollutants exposure in marine ecosystems (*Sabri, H. et al., 2020*).

1.7 Canine Mastocytoma

Based on the published literature, the mast cell tumours (MCT) is the most common skin cancer of dogs, and can be cutaneous or subcutaneous. This tumour may affect dogs of any age, but usually middle or old-aged ones. These tumours arise when the mast cells proliferate in an uncontrolled manner and clump together in clusters generally in the form of skin bumps. The tumours appear small and not significant, many are benign but can be really serious and life-threatening (*London, C. A., & Seguin, B., 2003*). Mast cells arise as precursors of bone marrow and then migrate to the peripheral tissues, and under the influence of local cytokines may differentiate in mature mast cells. These ones contain cytoplasmic granules in which bioactive molecules such as histamine and heparin are present and responsible for hypersensitivity, allergy, and inflammatory reactions. Only upon the activation of mast cells by any physical, chemical stimuli, or through the activation of immune response mechanisms, the above-mentioned cellular components are released (*London, C. A., & Seguin, B., 2003, Blackwood, L. et al., 2012*).

1.7.1 Treatment:

The treatment approaches to canine MCTs depend on tumour stage, histological grade, and clinical feature. Likewise to many other cancers, surgery, chemotherapy, radiation therapy and adjuvant chemotherapy, or a combination of these ones, can be used. However, the number of masses and their location, the tumour grade, the presence or absence of metastasis, and, finally, the unpredictable biological behavior of MCT should also be considered when deciding the treatment of choice (*Blackwood, L. et al., 2012*). For dogs with localized, non-metastatic MCT (grade I and II) surgery is the recommended treatment; on the other hand, grade III tumours are invariably malignant and even after surgical removal, there is a high chance of relapse spread (metastasis) to lymph nodes and other organs including bone marrow. The use of radiotherapy is restricted to cases where surgical removal is not possible or to reduce the incidence of recurrence and it is most often used as a post-operative ancillary therapy after incomplete excision (*London, C. A., & Seguin, B., 2003, Blackwood, L. et al., 2012*). Chemotherapy is used to delay or prevent metastatic disease in addition to surgical removal of the tumour, or to delay the progression of existing metastatic disease.

Several anticancer drugs and protocols with a single agent or a combination of two or even more cytostatic drugs are available. Since MCT releases, histamine, the use of antihistamines may be of help to reduce symptoms. To counteract the acid-increasing substances released by MCT acid blockers (anti-H2 drugs) are used. Corticosteroids such as prednisone decrease in inflammation, and mitigate the tumour undesirable effects. The combined use of prednisone and vinca alkaloids such as vinblastine is one of the most commonly used therapeutic approach, but the alkylating agent lomustine is also used, either alone, in combination or in alternating use. When choosing the proper anticancer drug, care should be given to avoid potential side effects. Vinblastine, prednisone, and lomustine may cause myelosuppression and gastrointestinal toxicity. Hence, a hematological examination must be done prior each use. Furthermore, lomustine may also provoke hepatotoxicity; hence, a routine monitoring of liver enzymes is required (*Blackwood, L. et al., 2012*).

1.7.2 Receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK), tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKIs) and canine MCT

Receptor tyrosine kinases are cell surface receptors, having a higher affinity to growth factors, cytokines, and hormones. They are responsible for the activation of various downstream signaling pathways fundamental in normal cellular processes. Dysregulation of RTK gene, such as, overexpression, mutation, chromosomal translocation, or autocrine signaling may led to the development and progression of different types of cancers. Recent studies showed that *KIT* mutations may be associated with the development of canine MCT (about 25-30% of moderate to high-grade tumours) (*Blackwood, L. al., 2012, Garrett, L. D., 2014, Webster, J. D. et al., 2006*). In these cases, the binding either of a growth factor (the stem cell factor) or of a ligand to the receptor is no longer needed for activating protein kinases, thereby resulting in tumour growth and angiogenesis (*Webster, J. D. et al., 2006*).

One widely accepted and successful treatment approach for MCT is to target the RTK by using "TKI", which induce a competitive mechanism of inhibition toward ATP, necessary for the activation of RTKs; as a consequence, they inhibit the RTK autophosphorylation and the downstream signal transduction. In canines, two TKIs have been approved by the European Medical Agencies (EMA): toceranib phosphate and masitinib. Toceranib is approved for use in recurrent non-resectable grade II/III MCT; however, masitinib is approved for use in non-resectable grade II/III MCT; however, masitinib is confirmed before the onset of the treatment (*Yancey, M. F. et al., 2010, Ogilvie, G. K. et al., 2011*). Likewise, to other cytostatic drugs, the use of TKIs cannot be considered as an alternative to surgical resection; moreover, their use may provoke side effects, too.

1.8 Canine Lymphoma

Lymphomas are one of the most frequent tumours of canines. Although canine lymphoma is often viewed as a single disease, it actually encompasses many clinically and morphologically distinct subtypes (Zandvliet, M., 2016). According to the cell of origin, they are classified into B-cell and T- cell lymphomas. B-cell lymphoma is the most common canine lymphoma, and it is similar to human diffuse large b-cell lymphoma (DLBCL). In short, the proliferation of malignant lymphocytes led to the development of intermediate to high-grade lymphoma. It can affect any dogs of middle-sized to larger breeds. Although the exact cause still remains obscure, some environmental factors and a genetic susceptibility are believed to play an important role in lymphoma carcinogenicity (Teske, E., 1994). Interestingly, canine lymphoma shows molecular, signaling, pathologic features, and incidence similarities with human non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL); hence it is considered as a useful comparative, large animal model of carcinogenesis, especially in disease progression and possible treatments (Marconato, L. et al., 2013, Seelig, D. M. et al., 2016). Lymphoma can affect different organs; however, in more than half of cases, lymphoma affects the peripheral lymph nodes. On the other hand, very rarely it develop in the chest cavity, skin, intestines, or other organs. The RTK KIT, which plays an important role in cellular proliferation, survival, and differentiation, shows a typically low pattern of expression in canine lymphoma; by contrast, a higher expression has been observed in shown some highgrade T-cell lymphomas (Teske, E., 1994).

1.9 Canine MCT and lymphoma cell lines (C2 and CLBL-1, respectively)

Nowadays, comparative oncological studies are considered relevant not only for veterinary and medical oncologists, but also in preclinical sciences. Indeed, following the unveiling of morphologic, histologic, and biological similarities between human cancers and spontaneously occurring pets malignancies, companion animals are increasingly proposed as suitable animal models in drug development and preclinical studies, (*Zorzan, E. et al., 2018*).

The canine cell line C2 was established from a naturally occurring MCT in a mixedbreed dog, that was transplanted and propagated in BALB/c nude mice (*Lazarus, S. C. et al.,* 1986). These cells grow in suspension, and are widely used to study in vitro the canine MCT biology. It possesses all the general features of an aggressive MCT, including KIT-mutations and has a doubling time of 21 hrs. (*Sekis, I. et al., 2009*).

With regards to canine lymphoma, the CLBL-1 cell line was obtained from a fine needle aspirate of a dog with confirmed stage IV DLBCL cells grew without the addition of growth factors and the cell line was established after two months of continuous culturing (*Rütgen, B. C. et al., 2010*). It represents the first canine cell line developed from a fine needle aspirate of a malignant peripheral lymph node. These cells grow in suspension in small clusters of 10-20 cells. Under standardized cell culture conditions, CLBL-1 shows a doubling time of about 31hrs. This cell line is an interesting candidate for specific research on canine DLBCL but also for NHL (*Rütgen, B. C. et al., 2010*).

<u>2. SCOPE OF THE THESIS</u>

Humans and canines share not the only the same environment but also some pathologies, and particularly a deadly non-contagious one, i.e. cancer. A number of studies have also characterized the genetic risk of carcinogenesis among canines, and how this latter sometimes is very similar to that of some human cancer. Osteosarcoma, bladder cancer, and human non-Hodgkin's lymphoma are some of tumours sharing similarities between the two species.

Concerning the various treatment strategies, the adverse side effects caused by anticancer drugs, the drug resistance developed by tumours over time-along with the usage of expensive medicines, are the primary concerns, that initiated the need for identifying an alternative sources, more specific and less toxic than anticancer agents. Several research efforts are underway to discover anticancer drugs obtained from plant natural substances or other alternative sources; in some instances, - a number of biologically active substances with known chemical interaction have successfully identified. In such a context, the research on the marine environment, which represents about a lion's share of the earth's terrain, has proven to be a rich source of diverse compounds of interest. Specifically, there have been a plethora of attempts to associate the antiproliferative, antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, as well as the immunomodulatory effects of seaweed extracts to various cancer cell lines of both humans and animals. The present study falls under this umbrella, as it aims at assessing the ability of candidate algal extracts to inhibit the proliferation of two canine cancer cell lines established from two very common canine tumours, i.e. mast cell tumour and lymphoma. These cell lines, but especially the lymphoma one, can be (are) used as a suitable comparative in vitro model for human tumours cush as mastocytosis and non-hodgkin's lymphoma.

Specifically, in the present work, we aimed to make a very preliminary evaluation of the effect of four algal extracts, i.e. *G. cervicornis*, *P. cartilagenium*, *L. ochroleuca*, and, *H. incurvus* on C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines. The study was carried out in two steps:

- a) Preliminary identification, for each algal extract, of the most useful set of concentrations to be used in cytotoxicity testing.
- b) Analysis of cytotoxicity of each crude algal extract, using Alamar Blue, Sulforhodamine B and, Neutral Red Uptake assays, following the treatment of cells for different times with a range of concentration; therefore determination of the corresponding IC₅₀ values.

3. MATERIAL AND METHODS

3.1 Cell Culture: Growth and Maintenance

Canine Mastocytoma (C2) and Canine Large B-cell Lymphoma (CLBL-1), two suspension cell lines were used throughout the experiments. Both of them were grown in T-25 and T-75 cm² flasks (SARSTEDT AG&Co., KG Numbrecht, Germany) and incubated at a temperature of 37 °C and a 5 % CO₂ atmosphere. Splitting/ Sub-culturing of C2 cell lines were done every 2 days, to obtain a concentration of 250,000 cells/mL in the new flask and for CLBL-1 sub-culturing is done every 3 days, for 500,000 cells/mL.

3.1.1. Preparation of Culture Medium for C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines

Reagents used:

Roswell Park Memorial Institute 1640(RPMI 1640)(Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA); Decomplemented Foetal Bovine Serum (FBS)(Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA); 2 mM Alanine-Glutamine (Sigma, Merk kGaA, Darmstadt, Germania); Penicillin / Streptomycin (P/S) (Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA); 1mM Sodium pyruvate (Sigma-Aldrich, Merk kGaA, Darmstadt, Germany); NEAA(Non-Essential Amino Acids).

Protocol Followed:

For C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines RPMI 1640 medium is used. The medium and the other reagents mentioned above are previously warmed in the water bath, maintained at a temperature of 37 °C. C2 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 supplemented with FBS (previously decomplemented by heating in the water bath for 30 minutes at 56 °C), Alanine-Glutamine, P/S, and 1 mM Sodium Pyruvate(**Table 4**). Whereas, for CLBL-1 cells, RPMI 1640 was supplemented with FBS (previously decomplemented by heating in the water bath for 30 minutes at 56 °C), Alanine-Glutamine, P/S, and NEAA. (**Table 5**).

Reagent	Final
	Concentration
FBS	10%
Alanine-Glutamine	2mM(1%)
P/S	1%
Sodium Pyruvate	1%

Table 4 – RPMI 1640	- Medium Composition	used for C2 (Complete	Culture Medium)
----------------------------	----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------

Reagent	Final	
	Concentration	
FBS	10%	
Alanine-Glutamine	2mM(1%)	
P/S	1%	
NEAA	1%	

Table 5- RPMI 1640-Medium Composition used for CLBL-1

3.1.2 Cell Thawing for C2 and CLBL-1

Protocol Followed:

- The cryovial with the frozen cells is taken from the liquid nitrogen container and thawed by gently swirling it in the water bath preheated at 37 °C (< 2 minutes).
- Transfer the contents of the cryovial to a falcon containing 9 mL of the preheated (37 °C) complete culture medium.
- Centrifuge at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes and remove the supernatant using a vacuum pump.
- Resuspend the pellet in 5 mL of the complete medium, and transfer the cell suspension to a T-75 polystyrene flask with a 15 mL medium.
- The cells were incubated at 37 $^{\circ}$ C & a 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

3.1.3. Cell Freezing (C2 and CLBL-1)

3.1.3.1. Preparation of the Freezing medium:

Reagents Used :

Complete culture medium, Foetal Bovine Serum (FBS)(Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA); Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)(Sigma-Aldrich, Merk kGaA, Darmstadt, Germany).

Protocol Followed :

Add and properly mix the reagents mentioned, according to the proportion listed below (**Table 6**) to obtain the desired final volume.

Reagent	Final Concentration	
Culture medium	70%	
FBS	20%	
DMSO	10%	

 Table 6 – Freezing Medium Composition

3.1.3.2. Cell Freezing

Protocol Followed:

- Warm the previously prepared freezing medium, in a water bath at 37 °C.
- Observe the cells under the microscope, to evaluate their growth stage and possible bacterial, yeast, or fungal contamination.
- Transfer the cells to a falcon and centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes.
- Remove the supernatant and resuspend it in 6 mL of the culture medium. Cell counting, to determine the desired volume to be added to the freezing medium.
- Centrifuge again, at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes and remove the supernatant, and resuspend the pellet in the freezing medium.
- Transfer the contents to a cryogenic vial and the cell line, passage number, date, and operator's name were mentioned on the vial.

• For a slow freezing process, store the vial in a cryogenic storage box containing isopropanol, and keep it at -80 °C, for 24 hours(hrs); finally, transfer the vial into a liquid nitrogen tank for a long time of storage.

3.1.4. Cell Counting

Cell counting is an integral part of cell culture maintenance, where we can establish or evaluate cell growth rates, as well as make new cell cultures with known cell numbers. It helps not only to get the total viable cell number but also an indication of the health of the cell culture. Trypan blue test is the most common method for cell counting, which relies on the principle of the integrity of cell membrane as an indicator of cell viability. Trypan blue dye is taken up and retained by only the dead cells, which do not have an intact cell membrane. Burker chamber is used for the calculation of cell numbers following the formula :

Number of cells /mL = N * 5*10,000 [formula 1]

Where N : the mean number of cells counted in five squares

5 : the dilution factor

10,000 : the conversion factor of the Burker chamber.

The volume of cell suspension needed to get the desired number of cells/mL, for both splitting and plating, can be calculated by the formula :

$$C_1 * V_1 = C_2 * V_2$$
 [formula 2]

Where C_1 : the initial concentration of cells/mL

 V_1 : initial volume (the volume of cell suspension with the desired cell numbers)

- C_2 : the final concentration of cells/mL
- $V_2 \ : \ final \ volume \ of \ cell \ suspension$

Reagents Used:

Trypan Blue solution 0.4% (Life Technologies Corporation, NY,USA); Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS)1X + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

For counting in Burker chamber:

Prepare a mixture using Trypan blue, PBS 1X + EDTA, and cell suspension according to the volumes reported in **Table 7**. Transfer 10 µl from the above-mentioned solution to the Burker chamber. Count the cells from 5 squares by observing them under the microscope. The total number of cells/mL is calculated using formulas 1 and 2.

Reagents	Volume used
Trypan Blue dye	500 μL
PBS 1x+EDTA	300 µL
Cell suspension	200µL

Table 7 – Composition of Trypan Blue dye exclusion test mixture

3.1.5 Cell Splitting

Reagents used:

RPMI 1640 (Complete culture medium), Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Life Technologies Corporation, NY, USA); Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS)1X + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

- The culture medium should be previously warmed in the water bath at 37° C.
- The cells were observed under the microscope and the flask with sufficient cell growth will be selected for sub-culturing.
- Transfer the cell suspension from T-25 or T-75 cm² flasks, prepared two days (48 hours) before for C2 and three days before for CLBL-1, into a falcon.

- Centrifuge the falcon at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes and remove the supernatant using a vacuum pump and resuspend the pellet in 6 mL or 7 mL of complete medium, based on the size of the pellet formed.
- Cell counting using counting chambers, such as Burker Chamber. Calculate the required volume of the cell suspension and the remaining volume of the culture medium to be added according to formulas 1 and 2 to a T-25 or T-75 cm² flask.

3.2. Cytotoxicity Assays

3.2.1. Alamar blue Assay

Alamar blue(AB) is one of the widely used cytotoxicity assays, as an indicator of cellular viability, where the blue-colored, non-fluorescent compound Resazurin, is reduced by the living cell's mitochondrial, cytosolic, or microsomal enzymes into a pink-colored, highly fluorescent Resorufin. The quantity of resorufin, which in turn is proportional to the fluorescence produced, can be correlated with higher cellular viability. (*O'brien, J. et al., 2000*)

3.2.1.1. Preparation of Alamar Blue reagent

Preparation of Alamar blue reagent should be done in the dark, as it is light-sensitive.

Reagents used:

Resazurin (Sigma-Aldrich, Merk kGaA, Darmstadt, Germany); Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS)(pH 7.3)

Protocol Followed:

- a. Transfer 0.15 mg of high purity resazurin in PBS (pH 7.3), following the proportion :
 0.15 mg/mL.
- b. Filter -sterile the resazurin solution, through a 0.2 μm pore-sized filter, into a sterile, light protected container.
- c. Store the resazurin solution away from light at 4 °C for frequent use or at -20 °C for long-term storage.

3.2.1.2. Alamar blue assay for cells

Reagents used :

Alamar blue (prepared following the protocol reported in section 3.2.1.1)

Protocol Followed:

- a. For the assay to be performed, transfer 100 μ L of cell suspension into the wells. (30,000 cells/well) (4.2 and 4.3)
- b. Add the test compound (algal extract) and vehicle control (DMSO 1%), and the treatment to appropriate wells to make a final volume of 150 μ L in each well.
- c. Incubate the cells for 48 hrs, 37 °C, and 5% CO₂.
- d. After 48 hrs of incubation, remove the plates from the incubator and add 30 μ L of the Alamar Blue reagent solution.
- e. Shake the plate for 10 seconds and incubate for another 3 hrs, under the standard cell conditions.
- f. After 3 hrs of incubation, the fluorescence, be measured at 544 nm (excitation wavelength) and 590 nm (emission wavelength), using VICTORTM X4 Multilabel Plate Reader.

3.2.2. Sulforhodamine B-Assay

A fast and sensitive colorimetric assay for the determination of drug-mediated cytotoxicity in both suspension and attached cells. Sulforhodamine-B (SRB), is a bright pink aminoxanthine dye that binds to protein's basic amino acid residues, of trichloro acetic acid (TCA) – fixed cells, which is a mild acidic condition. The dye is then released under basic conditions (pH 10.5), and its colorimetric determination provides an approximate cell number based on the cellular protein content which can directly be related to viable cell numbers determined from a standard curve (*Skehan, P. et al., 1990*).

Reagents used :

Acetic acid (1%) (M = 17.5) (Sigma–Aldrich, Co., 3050 Spruoe Street ,St. Louis, MO 63103 USA); Sulforhodamine-B(0.4%)(Sigma-Aldrich,Merk kGaA, Darmstadt, Germany); Trichloro acetic acid (TCA) (163.39 g/mol) (AppliChem, GmbH, Ottoweg 10b, Darmstadt); Tris buffer (pH 10.5), Ultrapure water.
3.2.2.1. Preparation of Reagents

- Dissolve high purity acetic acid in Ultrapure water, at the rate of 1 %.
- Dissolve the required amount of SRB (0.4%) in 1 % acetic acid. As it is light sensitive, preparation of SRB and the SRB addition should be carried out away from light.
- Prepare the required amount of TCA (50%) and Tris buffer(50%, 10mM, pH 10.5) in Ultra pure water.

3.2.2.2. SRB assay for the cells

Protocol Followed:

- a. For the assay to be performed, transfer 100 μ L of cell suspension into the wells. (30,000 cells/well) (4.2 and 4.3).
- Add 50 μL test compound (algal extract dissolved in DMSO), and 50 μL of vehicle control (RPMI 1640+DMSO) in appropriate wells to make a final volume of 150 μL in each well.
- c. Incubate the cells for 48 hrs, 37° C, and 5% CO2.
- d. After 48 hrs of incubation, remove the plates from the incubator and centrifuge at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes, to make the cells sediment at the bottom of the wells.
- e. Add 37.5 μL of 50 % cold TCA on top of the medium in each well (fixing the cells at the bottom under a slightly acidic condition)
- f. Incubating at 4° C for 1 hr.
- g. After 1 hr of incubation, remove the supernatant
- h. Washing with $100 \ \mu L$ ultrapure water, 3 times.
- i. Dry the plate in the heater at 37°C for 5-10 minutes.
- j. Add 100 μ L of SRB (0.4%), to each well to be assessed.
- k. Incubate at room temperature for 30 minutes.
- 1. After incubation, remove the dye carefully and wash it with 100 μ L of 1 % acetic acid, 4 times.
- m. Dry the plate in the heater at 37 °C, for 5-10 minutes without the cover.
- n. Add 200 μ L of 10 mM of Tris buffer pH 10.5(releasing the dye under mild basic conditions).
- o. Incubate at room temperature for 5 minutes on a shaker.

p. The absorbance is to be measured at 570nm and 630 nm (which is the reference wavelength) in the MULTISKANTM GO Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

3.2.3. Neutral Red Uptake Assay

Neutral red assay helps to determine the cellular proliferation., an in vitro quantification of xenobiotic–induced cytotoxicity. The assay is based on the living cell's ability to uptake the weak, cationic dye neutral red, only in the lysosomes of living cells. And after the extraction of the dye from the cells, using ethanol-acetic acid, the absorbance can be measured, and the intensity of red color released from the cells can be directly linked to the concentration of viable cells with intact membranes (*Babich, H., & Borenfreund, E., 1990*).

Reagents used:

Neutral red dye(Sigma-Aldrich, Merk kGaA, Darmstadt, Germany); Neutral red destain solution; RPMI 1640(without FBS) (Gibco, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, USA); Ethanol 96%; Glacial acetic acid 1% (M = 17.5) (Sigma – Aldrich, Co., 3050 Spruoe Street, St. Louis, MO 63103 USA); PBS (pH. 7.3)

3.2.3.1. Preparation of reagents:

a. Neutral red dye (0.05 mg/mL)

Add the required amount of neutral red powder in RPMI(without FBS) to make a final concentration of 0.05 mg/mL. Incubate overnight at 37 °C and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 5 minutes before using, to avoid the precipitated crystals. It should be prepared one day before use and stored away from light.

b. Neutral red destain solution

50% Ethanol (96%), 49% deionized water, and 1% glacial acetic acid are used for the preparation.

3.2.3.2. Neutral red assay for cells

Protocol Followed:

a. For the assay to be performed, transfer 100 μL of cell suspension into the wells.
 (90,000 cells /well) (4.2 & 4.3).

- b. Add 50 μ L test compound (algal extract dissolved in DMSO), and 50 μ L of vehicle control (RPMI 1640+DMSO) to appropriate wells to make a final volume of 150 μ L in each well.
- c. Incubate the cells for 48 hrs, 37 °C, and 5% CO₂ atmosphere.
- d. After 48 hrs of incubation, remove the plates from the incubator, and transfer the content of each well into a V-shaped 96-well plate.
- e. Centrifuge at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes.
- f. After centrifugation, carefully remove the supernatant.

Take the neutral red dye solution from the incubator and centrifuge at 4000 rpm for 5 minutes to avoid any precipitated crystals. The addition of neutral red and further steps should be done away from a light source.

- g. Add 150 μ L of neutral red dye solution to each well and resuspend.
- h. Incubate for 3 hrs at 37 °C, 5% CO₂ atmosphere.
- i. After the required incubation, centrifuge the plate again at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes.
- j. Remove the supernatant and add 150 μ L of PBS and resuspend
- k. Centrifuge at 2000 rpm for 5 minutes.
- 1. Remove the supernatant and add 150 μ L of neutral red-destain solution and resuspend.
- m. Wait for 15 minutes and transfer the content of each well to 96 flat bottom well plates
- q. Read the absorbance in a spectrophotometer at 540 nm and 630 nm (which is the reference wavelength) in the MULTISKANTM GO Microplate Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

3.3. Validation Phase for C2

The validation or documentation phase is an integral part of the experiment. It has to be done as a preliminary evaluation. The three main objectives of this phase include:

- a. Calculating the number of cells required for plating
- b. Determining the possible time of incubation of each 96-well plate (24 hrs / 48 hrs/ 72 hrs) after the treatment addition.
- c. Evaluating the best incubation time for Alamar blue, NR and SRB assays.

Reagents used:

Alamar blue reagent (3.2.1.1); SRB Reagents(3.2.2); NRU Reagents(3.2.3)

Protocol Followed :

a. Set up three 96-well plates, with a range of cellular concentrations, need to be assessed. Six technical replicates of each concentration are maintained. The initial volume (i.e., the higher concentration of cells = $80,000/150 \mu$ L) of cell suspension with the desired number of cells is calculated using Formula 2 and then serial dilutions were prepared. The scheme for the addition of cell suspension in each well is represented in **Table 8**.

C2 1		2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
(AB) A	b.B.	625	1,250	2,500	5,000	10,000	20,000	40,000	80,000

 Table 8. Schematic representation of the addition of C2 cell suspension in each well

 for AB assay

(Ab.B. : Absolute Blank (only the medium))

- b. The final volume in each well is 150 μ L (cell suspension with the desired cell numbers) and incubate at 37 °C, in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere, where the first plate is incubated for 24hrs, and the second and third plate is for 48 and 72hrs respectively.
- c. Remove the plates after the specific incubation period and add 30 μ L of Alamar blue reagent to each well to be assessed.
- d. Shake the plates for 10 seconds at room temperature, away from light.
- e. Incubate at standard cell culture conditions for 2, 3, and 4 hours for each plate respectively.
- f. For validating the cell numbers for SRB and NRU assays, the protocol for the addition of cell suspension is the same as that mentioned above for Alamar blue (from a-e). The scheme for the addition of cell suspension in each well is as in Table 9.

C2	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
(SRB									
and	Ab.B.	625	1,250	2,500	5,000	10,000	20,000	40,000	80,000
NRU)									

 Table 9. Schematic representation of the addition of C2 cell suspension in the wells for SRB and NRU assays.

(Ab.B. : Absolute Blank (only the medium))

- g. After the required period of incubation of plates for 24, 48, and 72hrs, the assays are performed as per the methods mentioned in 3.2.2 and 3.2.3 for SRB and NRU.
- h. For AB, after the required incubation, shake the plate again for 10 seconds and the fluorescence is measured at 544 nm (excitation wavelength) and 590 (emission wavelength), in the spectrophotometer (VICTORTMX4 Multilabel Plate Reader) (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA).

3.4. Validation Phase for CLBL-1

The validation or documentation phase is an integral part of the experiment. It has to be done as a preliminary evaluation. The three main objectives of this phase include:

- a. Calculating the number of cells required for plating
- b. Determining the possible time of incubation of each 96-well plate (24 hrs / 48 hrs/ 72 hrs) after the treatment addition.
- c. Evaluating the best incubation time for Alamar blue, SRB and NRU assays respectively.

Reagents used:

Alamar blue reagent ((3.2.1.1); SRB Reagents(3.2.2); NRU Reagents(3.2.3)

Protocol Followed:

a. Set up three 96-well plates, with a range of cellular concentrations, need to be assessed. Six technical replicates of each concentration are maintained. The initial volume (i.e., the higher concentration of cells = 120,000 cells/ 150 μ L(AB and SRB), but for NRU, the higher concentration of cells = 240,000 cells/150 μ L) of cell suspension with the desired number of cells is calculated using Formula 2 and then serial dilutions were prepared. The scheme for the addition of cell suspension in each well is as follows in **Table 10**.

CLBL-	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1(AB)	Ab.B.	1875	3750	7,500	15,000	30,000	60,000	120,000

 Table 10. Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell suspension in the wells for AB assay

(Ab.B. : Absolute Blank (only the medium))

- b. The final volume in each well is 150 μ L (cell suspension with the desired cell numbers) and incubate at 37 °C, in a 5% CO₂ atmosphere, where the first plate is incubated for 24 hours, and the second and third plate is for 48 and 72 hours respectively.
- c. Remove the plates after the specific incubation period, and add 30 μ L of Alamar blue reagent.
- d. Shake the plates for 10 seconds at room temperature, away from light.
- e. Incubate at standard cell culture conditions for 2, 3, and 4hrs for each plate respectively.
- f. For validating the cell numbers for SRB and NRU assays, the protocol followed is the same as that mentioned above for Alamar blue (from a-e). The scheme for the addition of cell suspension in each well is showed. (Table 11 and 12).

CLBL-	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1(SRB)	Ab.	187	3750	7,500	15,000	30,000	60,000	120,000
	В.	5						

 Table 11. Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell lines for SRB assay.

CLBL-	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1(NRU)	Ab.B.	1875	3750	7,500	15,000	30,000	60,000	120,000	240,000

Table 12. Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell lines for NRU

 Assay.

(Ab.B. : Absolute Blank (only the medium))

- g. After the required period of incubation of plates for 24, 48, and 72hrs, the assays are performed as per the methods mentioned in 3.2.2 and 3.2.3 for SRB and NRU.
- h. For AB, after the required incubation, shake the plate again for 10 seconds and the fluorescence is measured at 544 nm (excitation wavelength) and 590 (emission wavelength), in the spectrophotometer (VICTORTMX4 Multilabel Plate Reader) (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA, USA).

4. CYTOTOXICITY ASSAY STUDIES

The algal extracts of five different algae (Moroccan origin), *Gracilaria cervicornis* (GC), *Plocamium cartilagineum* (PC), *Laminaria ochroleuca* (LO), *Halopithys incurvus* (HI), and *Ellisonadia elongata* (EE) have been extracted and the antiproliferative activity was evaluated in both C2 and CLBL–1 cell lines. These cell lines were incubated with the seaweed extracts, and the half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) was determined using three cytotoxic endpoints; Alamar Blue (AB), for understanding the cellular metabolic activity; Sulforhodamine-B (SRB), for analyzing cellular permeability; and Neutral Red Uptake Assay (NRU), evaluates lysosomal uptake.

Cells were seeded in 96 flat bottom well plates and treated with different concentrations of algal extracts. For each alga, the concentrations used were also different. During the initial stages of the experiment, as part of the preliminary evaluation, different concentrations of extracts have been used and they were incubated for a period of 24 hrs,48 hrs, and 72 hrs at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. In the later stages, it has been decided to continue with 48 hrs, as the incubation temperature for all extracts.

The whole experiment can be divided into two parts namely the "Screening assays" and the "Main assays". In the first part, the extracts from all five different algae were used, in different concentrations for each alga, and their antiproliferative activity was analyzed by using only the Alamar Blue cytotoxicity assay. After the analysis, the most effective ones were selected for further investigation and the cellular toxicity and viability were determined using all three assays mentioned above.

4.1 Preparation of Algal Extract

Algal extracts were prepared from dried algal powder (from Morocco). The extraction protocol can be divided into three main steps., Maceration, Filtration, and Evaporation.

Reagents used:

CH₂Cl₂ : Dichloromethane; MeOH : Methanol

Protocol Followed:

From a known mass of Algae Powder:

Step 1: Maceration

- In an Erlenmeyer flask of 500 mL, put 50 g of powder (X4 Erlenmeyer, 200 g in total),
- Add CH₂Cl₂ /MeOH (1:1, V/V) to the algae powder in a 50:50 ratio,
- Macerate for 72 hrs on a shaker in a closed Erlenmeyer flask (1 st Maceration),

Step 2: Filtration

A: Filtration of the first maceration

- Filter the mixture on Whatman filter paper (φ 185 mm),
- After having filtered the whole mixture, recover the extract (filtrate) and keep it at room temperature protected from light, then proceed to a second maceration of the same powder under the same conditions (Solvent, Time ...),

B: Filtration of the second maceration

- Filter the mixture on Whatman paper (φ 185 mm),
- Recover the extract (filtrate) obtained from the first and second maceration then proceed to evaporation.

Step 3: Evaporation

- Evaporate the mixture recovered in tubes on an evaporation plate (Turbo Vap LV),
- Weigh the empty tubes then gather the extracts obtained in a single tube,
- Calculate the total mass of extract obtained.

4.2. Seeding of cells in 96-well plates

The two cell lines, C2 and CLBL–1 were seeded on 96-well plates with a concentration of 30,000 cells /well for AB and SRB assays and 90,000 cells /well for NRU assay respectively. The total cellular concentrations for each assay were obtained from the validation assay (3.3 and 3.4).

Reagents used:

Complete culture medium; Trypan Blue solution 0.4% (Life Technologies Corporation, NY,USA); Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1X EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

- Transfer the cell contents from previously prepared 25 or 75 cm² flasks, into a sterile falcon, and centrifuge at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes.
- Discard the supernatant and care should be taken not to disturb the cell pellet.
- Resuspend the pellet in 6 mL or 7 mL of complete medium and homogenize the suspension.
- Calculate the required number of cells using the Burker chamber and transfer the required amount of cell suspension into a new medium. Then the cells are ready for plating.
- Add 100 µL of cell suspension into the 96-well plates. Shake them gently and they are ready for the treatment addition.

4.3. Cell incubation with the treatment (algal extracts)

Reagents used:

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO) 100% (Sigma-Aldrich, Merk kGaA, Darmstadt, Germany), RPMI 1640 (complete culture medium).

Protocol Followed:

Weigh the required amount of raw algal extract in a sterile, clean Eppendorf and dissolve it using DMSO (100%) as a solvent. Prepare the stock solution using a complete culture medium, and make serial dilutions. 50 μ L of the algal extract dilutions were added into each well, according to various concentrations to be assessed. The plates were then, incubated for a period of 48 hrs, at 37 °C, in a humidified atmosphere with a 5% CO₂.

4.4. Screening Examinations - Alamar Blue Cytotoxicity Assay – Using C2 Cell Lines

For the screening examinations of each alga, two independent cell culture experiments each one run in sextuplicate has been used within a selected concentration range. The concentration ranges were decided based on the preliminary evaluations, in which the concentration of extracts with very low, medium, and, very high antiproliferative activity were selected. This particular range has been used for further assays.

Screening assays were confirmed using the Alamar Blue cell viability assay. The readings were measured in terms of fluorescence, in VIKTORTM X4 Multilabel Plate Reader.

4.4.1. Screening assay - Gracilaria cervicornis (G.C.)

Cells of passage 14 (from two different cryovials) have been used for the assays and a final concentration of algal extract from 4.16 μ g/mL to 166.67 μ g/mL has been evaluated. The experiments were conducted under the Laminar Air Flow Chamber and sterility of the assay must be maintained throughout.

Reagents Used:

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)100%; Complete culture medium; Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Life Technologies Corporation, NY,USA); Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1X + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

4.4.1.1. Dilution of Algal extract:

- a) Stock solution 100X: Prepare a stock solution by dissolving the algal extract in 100% DMSO, so that they get a final concentration of 200 mg/mL.
 The proportion followed for making the stock solution: 100 mg of algal extracts in 500 μL of DMSO (100 %).
- b) Stock solution 1X: Make a dilution of 1:100, to dilute DMSO from 100 % to 1%, by transferring 100 μL of the 100X solution to 9.9 mL of RPMI 1640, thereby making an initial concentration of 2 mg/mL.
- c) Prepare serial dilutions to reach a final concentration of 4.16μg, 8.33μg, 16.67 μg, 25μg, 41.66μg, 83.33μg, 166.67μg in the wells.

d) Addition of 100 µl of the cell suspension, using a multi-channel pipette, to each well, except the first column where, only the culture medium is added, which is considered as "absolute blank". Cell dilution and cell counting were done as per the procedure mentioned above (3.1.4).

4.4.1.2. Plating of cells and treatment addition in 96-well plates.

50 μ L of the treatment from each concentration was used for plating. A total volume of 150 μ L is added to each well of the 96-well plates. The final concentration of extracts will be three times lower than the actual concentration that we prepare. This is because, 50 μ L, is added to 100 μ L cell suspension to make a final volume of 150 μ L. (In other words, 50 μ L in a total volume of 150 μ L in the well). Hence a ratio of 1:3 is followed in the preparation of the treatment.

For example., $500\mu g/mL/3 = 166.6 \mu g/mL$ in the well. (Conc. of algal extract)

The first column represents the absolute blank which contains 150μ L of the medium. The second column, where 100μ L of cell suspension and 50μ L of complete culture medium without DMSO, is the control, for assessing whether the DMSO has any toxic effect on the cell viability. Finally, the third column, which contains 100μ L cell suspension and 50μ L of solvent (RPMI 1640+ DMSO 0.33%), is the control for the treatment to be examined.

4.4.2. Screening assay – Plocamium cartilagineum (P.C.)

Cells in passages 14 and 15 have been used for the assays and a concentration range from $4.16 \ \mu g/mL$ to $166.67 \ \mu g/mL$ has been used. The experiments were conducted under the Laminar Air Flow Chamber and sterility of the assay was maintained throughout.

For *Plocamium*, the protocol followed, as reported in 4.4.1.

4.4.3. Screening assay – Halopithys incurvus (H.I.)

Cells, in passages 14 and 16 were used for plating. All the procedures for plating cells and the treatment addition were done under sterilized conditions. A concentration range from 20.83 μ g/mL to 1.33 mg/mL was used.

Reagents Used:

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)100% ; Complete culture medium (RPMI 1640) ; Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Life Technologies Corporation, NY,USA) ; Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1X + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

4.4.3.1. Dilution of Algal extract:

- a. Stock solution 100X: Prepare a stock solution by dissolving the algal extracts in 100% DMSO, to obtain a final concentration of 400 mg/mL.
 The proportion followed for making the stock solution: 200 mg of algal extracts in 500 μL of DMSO (100 %).
- b. Stock solution 1X: Make a dilution of 1:100, to dilute DMSO from 100 % to 1%, by transferring 100 μL of the 100X solution to 9.9 mL of RPMI 1640, thereby making an initial concentration of 4 mg/mL.
- c. Prepare serial dilutions to reach a final concentration of 20.83µg, 83.33µg, 166.66µg, 333.33µg, 666.67µg, 1µg, and 1.33µg in the wells.
- d. Addition of 100 μ L of the cell suspension, using a multi-channel pipette, to each well, except the first column where, only the culture medium is added, which is considered as "absolute blank". Cell dilution and cell counting were done as per the procedure mentioned above (3.1.4).

4.4.3.2. Plating of cell suspension and treatment in 96-well plates.

 50μ L of the treatment from concentration 20.83μ g to 1.33μ g was used for plating as per the procedures mentioned in 4.4.1.2.

4.4.4. Screening assay – Laminaria ochroleuca (L.O.)

C2 cell lines from Passage numbers 25 and 28 were used for the analysis. A concentration range from 200 μ g/mL to 700 μ g/mL. Sterile conditions are to be maintained through the experiments.

Reagents Used:

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO) 100%; Complete culture medium; Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Life Technologies Corporation, NY,USA) ; Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1X + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

4.4.4.1. Dilution of Algal extract:

- a. Stock solution 100X: Prepare a stock solution by dissolving the algal extracts in 100% DMSO, to achieve a resulting concentration of 210 mg/mL.
 The proportion followed for making the stock solution: 105 mg of algal extracts in 500 μL of DMSO (100 %).
- b. Stock solution 1X: Make a dilution of 1:100, to dilute DMSO from 100 % to 1%, by transferring 100 μL of the 1000X solution to 9.9 mL of RPMI 1640, thereby making an initial concentration of 2.1 mg/mL.
- c. Prepare serial dilutions to reach a final concentration of 200µg followed by 300µg, 400µg, 500µg, 600 µg, and 700µg in the wells.
- d. Addition of 100 μ L of the cell suspension, using a multi-channel pipette, to each well, except the first column where, only the culture medium is added, which is considered as "absolute blank". Cell dilution and cell counting were done as per the procedure mentioned above (3.1.4).

4.4.4.2. Plating of cell suspension and treatment in 96-well plates.

 $50 \ \mu$ L of the treatments from $200 \ \mu$ g to $700 \ \mu$ g were used for plating as per the procedures mentioned in 4.4.1.2.

4.4.5. Screening assay – Ellisonadia elongata

As compared with the other algae, *Ellisonadia elongata*, has a structure (thallus) based on calcium carbonate and is considered a coral reef alga. Because of its structural properties, it makes them difficult to be solubilized in the solvents like DMSO and also in Ethanol, which caused its analysis, unsuccessful. So we have decided to carry out the analysis with the other four algae. The schematic representation of the various treatment concentrations of all the four algae in the well is represented below in **Table 13**.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
G.C.	Ab.B.	Cells	Cells+ Solv.	4.16µg	8.33 μg	16.67μ g	25 μg	41.66 μg	83.33 μg	166.6 7μg		
P.C.	Ab.B.	Cells	Cells+ Solv.	4.16µg	8.33 μg	16.67μ g	25 μg	41.66 μg	83.33 μg	166.6 7μg		
H.I.	Ab.B.	Cells	Cells+ Solv.	20.83 μg	83.33 μg	166.66 μg	333. 33 μg	666.6 7μg	1mg	1.3mg		
L.O.	Ab.B.	Cells	Cells+ Solv.	200µg	300 µg	400µg	500 μg	600 μg	700 μg			

Table 13. Schematic representation of the addition of cell suspension in each well for different concentrations of algal extracts

The plating is as follows: 100μ L cell suspension and 50μ L of the treatment prepared.

Column 1: Absolute Blank (Ab.B.) - Only the medium

Column 2 – Column 10: 100 µl of cell suspension.

Column 2 : Cells + culture medium (50μ L)

Column 3 : Cells + Solvent (RPMI 1640+ DMSO 0.33%)

After the plating with treatment and cell suspension, the plates were incubated for a period of 48 hrs, 37 °C, and 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

Alamar Blue Analysis

After 48 hours of incubation, the plates were prepared for Alamar blue analysis. As described in 3.2.1.2.

4.5. Screening Examinations - Alamar Blue Cytotoxicity Assay – Using Clbl-1 Cell Lines

G. cervicornis and *P. cartilagenium* were used for the screening examinations. One biological replicate for each extract and sextuplicates has been used within a selected concentration range. Screening assays were confirmed using the Alamar Blue cell viability assay. The readings were measured in terms of fluorescence, in VIKTORTM X4 Multilabel Plate Reader.

4.5.1. Screening assay - Gracilaria cervicornis (G.C.) (1% DMSO)

Cells of passage number 24 has been used for the assays and a final concentration of algal extract from 2.08 μ g/mL to 83.33 μ g/mL has been evaluated. The experiments were conducted under the Laminar Air Flow Chamber and sterility of the assay must be maintained throughout.

Reagents Used:

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)100%; Complete culture medium; Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Life Technologies Corporation, NY,USA) ; Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1X + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

4.5.1.1. Dilution of Algal extract:

- a) Stock solution 100X: Prepare a stock solution by dissolving the algal extract in 100% DMSO, so that they get a final concentration of 200 mg/mL.
 The proportion followed for making the stock solution: 100 mg of algal extracts in 500 μL of DMSO (100 %).
- b) Stock solution 1X: Make a dilution of 1:100, to dilute DMSO from 100 % to 1%, by transferring 100 μL of the 100X solution to 9.9 mL of RPMI 1640, thereby making an initial concentration of 2 mg/mL.
- c) Prepare serial dilutions to reach a final concentration of 2.08 μg, 4.16 μg, 8.33μg, 16.67 μg, 25μg, 41.66μg, 83.33μg in the wells.
- d) Addition of 100 µl of the cell suspension, using a multi-channel pipette, to each well, except the first column where, only the culture medium is added, which is considered as "absolute blank". Cell dilution and cell counting were done as per the procedure mentioned above (3.1.4)

4.5.1.2. Plating of cells and treatment addition in 96-well plates.

 50μ L of the treatment from concentration 2.08 µg to 83.33 µg was used for plating as per the procedures mentioned in 4.4.1.2.

4.5.2. Screening assay – Plocamium cartilagineum (P.C.)

Cells in passage number 24 has been used for the assays and a concentration range from 2.08 μ g/mL to 83.33 μ g/mL has been used. The experiments were conducted under the Laminar Air Flow Chamber and sterility of the assay was maintained throughout.

For *P. cartilagenium*, the protocol followed, as reported in 4.5.1.

4.5.3. Screening assay - Gracilaria cervicornis (G.C.) (0.5% DMSO)

For CLBL-1 cell lines, it was observed that, a concentration of 1% of DMSO, induces toxicity for the cell lines. In order to avoid the bias in cytotoxicity, an additional assay to be performed, with a decreasing concentration of 0.5% DMSO was used.

Reagents Used :

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)100%; Complete culture medium; Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Life Technologies Corporation, NY,USA); Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1X + EDTA.

Protocol Followed :

4.5.3.1. Dilution of Algal extract :

- a) Stock solution 100X: Prepare a stock solution by dissolving the algal extract in 100% DMSO, so that they get a final concentration of 200 mg/mL.
 The proportion followed for making the stock solution: 100 mg of algal extracts in 500 μL of DMSO (100 %).
- b) Stock solution 1X: Make a dilution of 1:100, to dilute DMSO from 100 % to 1%, by transferring 100 μL of the 100X solution to 9.9 mL of RPMI 1640, thereby making an initial concentration of 2 mg/mL.
- c) Prepare further dilutions, so as to decrease the DMSO concentration from 1% to 0.5%.

- d) Prepare serial dilutions to reach a final concentration of 2.08 μg, 4.16 μg, 8.33μg, 16.67 μg, 25μg, 41.66μg, 83.33μg in the wells.
- e) Addition of 100 µl of the cell suspension, using a multi-channel pipette, to each well, except the first column where, only the culture medium is added, which is considered as "absolute blank". Cell dilution and cell counting were done as per the procedure mentioned above (3.1.4)

4.5.3.2. Plating of cells and treatment addition in 96-well plates.

 50μ L of the treatment from concentration 2.08 µg to 83.33 µg was used for plating as per the procedures mentioned in 4.4.1.2.

The schematic representation of the various treatment concentrations of all the four algae in the well is represented in **Table 14**.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
G.C.	Ab.B.	Cells	Cells+	2.08 µg	4.16	8.33µg	16.6	25 µg	41.66	83.33		
			Solv.		μg		7 µg		μg	μg		
P.C.	Ab.B.	Cells	Cells+	2.08 µg	4.16	8.33µg	16.6	25 µg	41.66	83.33		
			Solv.		μg		7 µg		μg	μg		
G.C.	Ab.B.	Cells	Cells+	2.08 µg	4.16	8.33µg	16.6	25 µg	41.66	83.33		
(a)			Solv.		μg		7 µg		μg	μg		

 Table 14. Schematic representation of the addition of CLBL-1 cell suspension in each well

 for different concentrations of algae extracts

The plating is as follows: 100µL cell suspension and 50µL of the treatment prepared.

Column 1: Absolute Blank (Ab.B.) - Only the medium

Column 2 – Column 10: 100 µl of cell suspension.

Column 2 : Cells + culture medium $(50\mu L)$

Column 3 : Cells + Solvent (RPMI 1640+ DMSO 0.33%)

*For G.C (a) : DMSO concentration reduced to 0.5%

After the plating with treatment and cell suspension, the plates were incubated for a period of 48 hrs, 37 $^{\circ}$ C, and 5% CO₂ atmosphere.

Alamar Blue Analysis

After 48 hours of incubation, the plates were prepared for Alamar blue analysis. As described in 3.2.1.2.

4.6. Main Assays – Alamar Blue, Sulforhodamine -B & Neutral Red Analysis – Using C2 Cell Lines

Main assays were done as a confirmatory analysis, and also as a continuation of the screening examinations. The results obtained from the screening analysis for *Gracilaria cervicornis*, *Plocamium cartilagineum*, *Halopithys incurvus*, and *Laminaria ochroleuca*, from Alamar blue cytotoxicity assay, were evaluated and the most effective two algae, *Gracilaria cervicornis*, and *Plocamium cartilagineum* were selected for the main assays.

In this section of the research, along with Alamar Blue, the other tests including Sulforhodamine-B and Neutral Red were also used to evaluate the effect of G.C. and P.C. on C2. For all the assays three independent biological experiments each one run in sextuplicate were considered.

4.6.1. Main assays - Gracillaria cervicornis

Cells have been used from passage 16 to 22 in these assays evaluating GC cytotoxicity with a concentration range from 4.16 μ g/mL to 166.67 μ g/mL. The experiments were conducted under the Laminar Air Flow Chamber and sterility of the assay was to be maintained throughout.

Reagents Used:

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO) 100 %; Complete culture medium (RPMI 1640) ; Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Sigma – Aldrich Co., St. Louis, Missouri, USA) ; Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1x + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

Is the same as the screening assay for G.C. (4.4.1)

4.6.2. Main Assay – Plocamium cartilagineum

Cells from passages 28 to 31 have been used to test this extract with a concentration range from 4.16 μ g/mL to 166.67 μ g/mL. The experiments were conducted under the Laminar Air Flow Chamber and sterility of the assay was to be maintained throughout.

Reagents Used:

Di-Methyl Sulfoxide (DMSO) 100 % ; Complete culture medium (RPMI 1640) ; Trypan Blue solution 0.4 % (Sigma – Aldrich Co., St.Louis, Missouri, USA) ; Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) 1x + EDTA.

Protocol Followed:

As the same as that of the screening assay for Plocamium cartilagineum. (4.4.2).

For both G.C. and P.C. after plating with the treatment and the cell suspension the plates were incubated for a period of 48 hrs, 37 °C, 5% CO₂ atmosphere. After incubation, all three assays, AB, SRB, and NRU were performed.

4.7. Data Analysis

After measuring the absorbance and fluorescence the data were extracted in the form of an Excel file. The computation of data in Microsoft Excel is as follows:

4.7.1. Data analysis for the assays performed for C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines

a. Export the data from the plate reader and open the file in excel

b. Find the mean value of the absolute blank and subtract the other values from the mean value.

c. A new set of values was obtained and further calculations were done using these values.

d. Calculating the outliers by analyzing Quartile 1(Q1) and Quartile 3(Q3).

e. Calculate the cut-off values, the cut-off inferior and superior using the formula:

Cutoff inferior = Q1-1.5*(Q3-Q1)

Cut off Superior = Q1+1.5*(Q3-Q1)

f. Eliminate the cut-off values from 'c', and calculate new mean values.

g. Calculate the percentage of viability and cytotoxicity using the new mean values.

Viability% = (Mean Value/Control)*100

(Control is the cells + DMSO(0.33%))

Cytotoxicity% = 100- Viability.

h. The cytotoxicity and viability percentages of DMSO have also been calculated using the same formula indicated above. Here, the control is cells + Medium.

i. Create a final graph using the percentage of cytotoxicity and concentration used.

The final dose-response curve was created using GraphPad Prism Software(Version.5, San Diego, CA, USA). By using the cytotoxicity rate of the treated cells as compared with the vehicle control (DMSO), a non-linear regression [log(inhibitor) vs. normalized response, variable slope] was obtained. The half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀ and the goodness of fit (\mathbb{R}^2) values were provided by the software.

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The present study was designed to evaluate the cellular effects of four different algae collected from the Moroccan coast, on two canine cancer *in-vitro* models of MCT and lymphoma, C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines, respectively. The 1:1 (v/v) dichloromethanemethanolic extract of algae was used throughout the experiment. Cells were incubated in 96well plates with algal extracts at the required time-temperature combinations. For each extract, cell and vehicle control (DMSO) were included. The antiproliferative activity, the cellular viability and cytotoxicity were evaluated by using three assays, AB, SRB, and NRU. Noteworthy, in the preliminary screening the cell viability was determined only by using AB.

For each extract, the corresponding IC_{50} value and the R^2 (goodness of fit) values were calculated using GraphPad prism 5 software.

5.1. Screening assay (AB)

The dichloromethane-methanolic extracts (four) belonging to *Rhodophyta* (*G. cervicornis*, *P. cartilagenium*, *H. incurvus*) and *Phaeophyta* (*L. ochroleuca*) families of algae were tested on C2 cells and using the AB tests analysis. *G. cervicornis* and *P. cartilagenium* exhibited a low IC₅₀ value, 29.7 μ g·mL⁻¹ and 26.57 μ g·mL⁻¹ respectively. Both dose-response curves showed a R² value of 0.99. (Figure 3a-b). Dose-response curves obtained with increasing concentrations of *L. ochroleuca* and *H. incurvus* showed higher IC₅₀ values (363.5 μ g·mL⁻¹ and 484.8 μ g·mL⁻¹) (Figure 4a-b); hence, these two algal extracts showed a comparatively minor antiproliferative effects on canine C2 cell line.

On CLBL-1 cell lines, a typical dose-response curve was produced by both *G. cervicornis* and *P. cartilagenium* with an IC₅₀ value of 11.65 μ g·mL⁻¹ and 10.69 μ g·mL⁻¹, respectively. (Figure 5a-b). We have obtained the results for CLBL-1, only from one biological replicate and more assays have to be performed for the confirmation of the result. However, it was also observed that, the vehicle control, DMSO, is having a cytotoxic effect on the cells. On further analysis with a decreasing concentration of DMSO, from 1% to 0.5%, a decreasing effect of cytotoxicity on CLBL-1 cell lines was obtained (Figure 5c). Hence, more assays could be performed by decreasing the concentration of the vehicle control (DMSO), to assure that the solvent does not interfere with the toxic effect produced by the extract, in general and the bias can be avoided.

Consequently, by comparing the effect of extracts on both cell lines, C2 and CLBL-1, *G. cervicornis* and *P. cartilagenium* were considered as the most suitable and qualified candidates for confirmatory analysis.



Figure 3a. Dose response curve for G. cervicornis on C2, after AB assay

Plocamium cartilagineum - Alamar Blue $IC_{50}=26.57 \mu g/mL$ $R^2=0.99$ $IO_{0,0}$ $IO_{0,0}$ I

Figure 3b. Dose response curve for P. cartilagenium on C2, after AB assay



Figure 4a. Dose response curve for L. ochroleuca on C2, after AB analysis

Halopitys incurvus - Alamar Blue



Figure 4b. Dose response curve for *H. incurvus* on C2, after AB analysis



Figure 5a. Dose response curve for G. cervicornis on CLBL-1, after AB analysis



Figure 5b. Dose response curve for *P.cartilagenium* on CLBL-1, after AB analysis

Gracilaria cervicornis - Alamar Blue



Figure 5c. Dose response curve for *G. cervicornis* on CLBL-1, after AB analysis, with a decreasing concentration of DMSO

5.2. Confirmatory analysis (AB, SRB, and NRU)

The biological activity of aforementioned extracts was further evaluated using three cytotoxic tests on C2. Overall, both *G. cervicornis*, *P. cartilagenium* confirmed their cytotoxic activity on C2, and we have obtained a typical sigmoidal dose-response curve in all three assays.

The alga, *G. cervicornis*, generated a typical sigmoidal dose response curve from all the three tests. In terms of both IC_{50} and R^2 values, it can be ascertained that, AB is the most sensitive assay, with a 76% of variability between the values produced with NRU assay. The IC_{50} and R^2 values for the three tests are presented in **Table 15**.

Cytotoxicity Assay	IC50 value	R ² value
AB (Figure 6a.)	26.14 μg·mL ⁻¹	0.96
SRB (Figure 6b.)	20.05 µg∙mL⁻¹	0.93
NRU (Figure 6c.)	34.55 μg·mL ⁻¹	0.87

Table 15. IC₅₀ and R² values for C2, produced by *G. cervicornis*



Figure 6a. Dose response curve for G. cervicornis, on C2, after AB analysis

Gracilaria cervicornis - Sulforhodamine B



Figure 6b. Dose response curve for G. cervicornis, on C2, after SRB analysis



Figure 6c. Dose response curve for G. cervicornis, on C2, after NRU analysis

For *P. cartilagenium*, all the three tests produced the sigmoidal curve, with varying IC_{50} and R^2 values. The values are represented in **Table 16**.

Cytotoxicity Assay	IC ₅₀ value	R ² value
AB (Figure 7a.)	50.90 µg∙mL ⁻¹	0.99
SRB (Figure 7b.)	43.60 μg⋅mL ⁻¹	0.94
NRU (Figure 7c.)	77.75 μg∙mL ⁻¹	0.89

Table 16. IC₅₀ and R² values for C2, produced by *P. cartilagenium*



Plocamium cartilagineum - Alamar Blue

Figure 7a. Dose response curve for P. cartilagenium, on C2, after AB analysis

Plocamium cartilagineum - Sulforhodamine B



Figure 7b. Dose response curve for *P. cartilagenium*, on C2, after SRB analysis



Figure 7c. Dose response curve for *P. cartilagenium*, on C2 after NRU analysis

From the above assays, it can be confirmed that, *G. cervicornis* exerts the maximum effectiveness in terms of antiproliferation. The sensitivity of the cells in producing a particular response, is also to be considered. CLBL-1 is the most susceptible among the two, that could be identified by the IC_{50} values produced by the same extracts used for C2.

Natural products have been in the mainstay of cancer chemotherapeutic procedures. Plants have played a major role in the development of highly sophiscated traditional medicinal systems. In the late 1960s, Vinblastine and Vincristine from the plants Podophyllum peltatum (mayapple) and Catharanthus roseus (Vinca rosea) respectively, have contributed to the long -term remission of many cancers (Dhyani, P. et al., 2022). Their discovery contributed to the development of a significant drug, Paclitaxel (Taxol), which extracted from the bark of Pacific yew, Taxus brevifolia and it still remains to be one of the best plant based cancer treatment available (Gallego-Jara, J. et al., 2020). Plant based drug discovery also resulted in the development of many anticancer drugs, presently in clinical use. It also provides a platform to better understand the complex synergestic interaction between the various constituents of anticancer herbs (Khazir, J. et al., 2014). The production of natural products from marine organisms was essentially non-existent, until the mid-1960s'. Since then, a large number of products with different therapeutic properties have been listed from seaweeds, marine microbes, sponges, soft corals and, marine invertebrates. Among these, marine algae, with diverse constituents having proven therapeutic value, have created a great interest in the medical filed (McCauley, E. P. et al., 2020). Microalgae and macroalgae with excellent anti-oxidant and anti-proliferative properties have been studied on different in vitro cell culture models of both animals and humans (McCauley, E. P. et al., 2020, Kang, K. *H.*, & *Kim*, *S. K.*, 2013).

Nevertheless, to our knowledge this is one of the few (if any) studies assessing the potential cytotoxic effects of crude algal extracts on canine tumour cell lines obtained from two of the most common canine neoplasia, MCT and lymphoma (*Ivashkiv, B. B. et al., 2020, Moore, A. S., 2016*). We made a preliminary evaluation of Rhodophyta and Phaeophyta that differs in biomolecule constituents having anticancer and antiproliferative properties. Overall, the extracts of *G. cervicornis and P. cartilagenium* inhibited both the C2 and CLBL-1 cell growth, albeit with varying IC₅₀ values.

With regard to the highest activity shown by *G. cervicornis*, we retain important to know that various biomolecules have already been identified. Lectins with acaricidal activity (*Singh, R. S., & Walia, A. K., 2018*) toxic polycavernosides (*Yotsu-Yamashita, M. et al., 2004*), cyclopropane containing cerebrosides with a weak cytotoxicity against melanoma cell lines (*Sun, Y. et al., 2006*), chlorinated fatty acid metabolites (*Shoeb, M., & Jaspars, M., 2003*) and, phycobiliproteins with antioxidant activity (*Tello-Ireland, C. et al., 2011*), have been so far isolated from *Gracilaria spp*. Even though not many cytotoxic in vitro studies

have been reported in particular, for *G. cervicornis*, other species proved to have cytotoxic activities against Ca9-22 (oral cancer) cells in a dose dependent manner (*Yeh, C.C. et al., 2012*), human lung adenocarcinoma cells (A549) with an IC₅₀ value of 24.5 \pm 19.1 µg.mL⁻¹(*Sakthivel, R. et al., 2016*). Whereas, *G. cervicornis* has made considerable attention in providing fungistatic activity against the opportunistic microorganism *Candida spp.* (*Sampaio, T.M.M. et al., 2022*). The aqueous extract of some *Gracilaria* species also confirmed the anti-inflammatory activity (*Chalini, K. et al., 2017*). It is also reported that red macroalgae can also be used as a source of potential anti-allergic therapeutics (*Vo, T. S. et al., 2012*) which makes this study more interesting, as MCT produces a large number of allergic mediators, which can even lead to life-threatening anaphylaxis.

Furthermore, former studies have characterized the part played by *KIT* proto-oncogene in tumourigenesis (*da Costa, R. M. G., 2015*), and its role as a potential molecular target for the treatment of canine MCT (*Sheikh, E. et al., 2022*). Interestingly, this co-relates with the study by Shuai-Yu Wang and colleagues in 2015, where a bromophenol derivative isolated from the marine red alga *Rhodomela confervoides*, produced inhibitory response against different RTKs. (*Wang, S. al., 2015*). This confides the fact, that the inhibitory effect shown by the algae require additional ligand-receptor studies, as they both belong to the red algae family, with respect to MCT.

Like *G. cervicornis*, *P. cartilagenium* also belongs to the family of red alga. The dichloromethane extract (1 mg·mL⁻¹, 24 hrs) of *P. cartilagenium* exhibited a strong antiproliferative activity against human hepatocellular carcinoma cells (HepG2), with an 85% decrease in cell viability, but with a higher IC₅₀ value of 852.7 µg.mL⁻¹ (*Alves, C. et al., 2016*). Interestingly, this extract seems to be most effective against C2 and CLBL-1 cell lines than HepG2, as it produces a lower IC₅₀ value of 50.90 µg.mL⁻¹ and 10.69 µg.mL⁻¹ for C2 and CLBL-1 respectively. Studies showed the capability of the aqueous extract of *P. cartilgenium*, in inhibiting the replication of Herpes Simplex Virus type-1 (HSV-1), with an IC₅₀ value of 6.4 µg.mL⁻¹, which explains its potential antiviral properties (*Rhimou, B. et al., 2010*). The dichloromethane extract of *P. cartilagenium* induced a higher antiproliferative activity on human colorectal cancer (Caco-2) cells with 95% reduction of the cells (*Alves, C. et al., 2018*).

It is difficult to arrive at a definitive conclusion regarding the reason behind *P*. *cartilagenium* anti-proliferative and cytotoxic effects; indeed, many constituents with

possibly potential cytotoxic effects have been isolated, e.g., monoterpenes, polyterpenes and, sulfated polysaccharides (*Sabry, O. M. et al., 2017, Bagchi, B. et al., 2012*). Nevertheless, the biological effect here obtained might be related to the presence of halogenated monoterpenes, that have been proved to be cytotoxic against human colon adenocarcinoma cellss (SW480 cell line) (*de Inés, C. et al., 2004*).

Additionally, the other two algae *L. ochroleuca* and *H. incurvus* have also been shown anticancer activities on a number of cell lines. Boujaber et al, (*Boujaber, N. et al., 2019*) studied the anti-tumour activity of dichloromethane-methanolic extract of *L. ochroleuca* collected from the Moroccan coast, and evidenced 100% activity against human buccal epidermal carcinoma cells (KB). On the other hand, the acetone-methanolic extract of *L. ochroleuca*

collected from the same coast, showed maximum cytotoxicity and anti-proliferative effect against HT-29 human colon cancer cells, with an IC_{50} value of 88.26 µg·mL⁻¹ (*Zbakh*, *H. et al., 2014*). Although they have been proved to be cytotoxic, in our experimental conditions they did not produce a very high effect on C2 cells.

Overall, some differences in the biological activity can be related to various environmental conditions to which the algae are subjected that, in turn, can lead to the production of different amounts of compounds potentially giving cytotoxicity. As an example, some authors have linked the production of compounds with toxic and antiproliferative properties to temporal and spatial variations, depending on the community or season, focusing on the importance of various biotic and abiotic factors (*Martí, R. et al., 2004, Taskin, E. et al., 2010*)

As a whole (and clearly), these results are very preliminary. Looking forward, we need to: (a) better characterize from the analytical point of view (e.g., more purified extracts) at least the two extract proved as cytotoxic; (b) to get preliminary information about the mechanism of action of these extracts (e.g., by RNA-seq investigations); (c) to make some more specific confirmatory studies, for as examples, investigate pro-apoptotic mechanisms by using annexin-V flow cytometry, check for ROS formation by fluorescent dyes (d) to study in particular, from the toxico-kinetics point of view. Some of these developments are currently considered in our lab.

6. CONCLUSION

The present study was one in a series that probed the anticancer activity of algal extracts on *in vitro* models (established cell lines). Though, a number of papers about the cytotoxic activity of red and brown algae have already been published, little is known about the effects produced by the algae extracts we selected for this particular study, and especially on the canine cancer cell lines, i.e. C2 and CLBL-1.

In the first part of the thesis, the best experimental conditions were determined using a wide range of concentrations and different time of exposure. Then, cell cytotoxicity was assessed by a more specific range of concentrations, a fixed time of exposure and three cytotoxicity assays. Overall, the crude algal extracts showed a marked cytotoxic effect on these target cell lines. Encouragingly, two out of the four algae tested, namely *G. cervicornis*, and *P. cartilagenium*, showed a comparatively higher cytotoxicity. Both, cell lines were susceptible, but more valuable results were obtained with the CLBL-1 cell line.

Clearly, further investigations aiming at clarifying and supporting *G. cervicornis*, and *P. cartilagenium* cytotoxic effects are required. As an example, extracts purification and isolation of the bioactive molecule responsible for such a cytotoxicity, using GC-MS and LC-MS. Furthermore, studies aiming at identifying the effects of these extracts on cell transcriptome. In this way, the molecular mechanisms, behind the algal action can be carved out.

From the future perspective, with the discovery of new natural sources, it could be possible, the development of an alternative cancer strategy and can serve as a comparative model for human oncological investigations.
REFERENCES

Abdala Díaz, R. T., Casas Arrojo, V., Agudo, A., Cárdenas, C., Dobretsov, S., & Figueroa, F. L. (2019). Immunomodulatory and antioxidant activities of sulfated polysaccharides from Laminaria ochroleuca, Porphyra umbilicalis, and Gelidium corneum. *Marine Biotechnology*, *21*(4), 577-587.

Abd-Ellatef, G. E. F., Ahmed, O. M., Abdel-Reheim, E. S., & Abdel-Hamid, A. H. Z. (2017). Ulva lactuca polysaccharides prevent Wistar rat breast carcinogenesis through the augmentation of apoptosis, enhancement of antioxidant defense system, and suppression of inflammation. *Breast Cancer: Targets and Therapy*, *9*, 67.

Ahn, Y. T., Kim, M. S., Kim, Y. S., & An, W. G. (2020). Astaxanthin reduces stemness markers in BT20 and T47D breast cancer stem cells by inhibiting expression of pontin and mutant p53. *Marine drugs*, *18*(11), 577.

Alekseyenko, T. V., Zhanayeva, S. Y., Venediktova, A. A., Zvyagintseva, T. N., Kuznetsova, T. A., Besednova, N. N., & Korolenko, T. A. (2007). Antitumour and antimetastatic activity of fucoidan, a sulfated polysaccharide isolated from the Okhotsk Sea Fucus evanescens brown alga. *Bulletin of experimental biology and medicine*, *143*(6), 730-732.

Allmendinger, A., Spavieri, J., Kaiser, M., Casey, R., Hingley-Wilson, S., Lalvani, A., Guiry, M., Blunden, G. and Tasdemir, D. (2010). Antiprotozoal, antimycobacterial and cytotoxic potential of twenty-three British and Irish red algae. *Phytotherapy Research*, *24*(7), 1099-1103.

Alves, C., & Diederich, M. (2021). Marine natural products as anticancer agents. *Marine Drugs*, *19*(8), 447.

Alves, C., Pinteus, S., Horta, A., & Pedrosa, R. (2016). High cytotoxicity and antiproliferative activity of algae extracts on an in vitro model of human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Springerplus*, *5*(1), 1-13. Alves, C., Pinteus, S., Rodrigues, A., Horta, A., & Pedrosa, R. (2018). Algae from Portuguese coast presented high cytotoxicity and antiproliferative effects on an in vitro model of human colorectal cancer. *Pharmacognosy Research*, *10*(1), 24.

Antunes, E.M., Afolayan, A.F., Chiwakata, M.T., Fakee, J., Knott, M.G., Whibley, C.E., Hendricks, D.T., Bolton, J.J. and Beukes, D.R. (2011). Identification and in vitro antiesophageal cancer activity of a series of halogenated monoterpenes isolated from the South African seaweeds Plocamium suhrii and Plocamium cornutum. *Phytochemistry*, 72(8), 769-772.

Argandoña, V., Del Pozo, T., San-Martín, A., & Rovirosa, J. (2000). Insecticidal activity of Plocamium cartilagineum monoterpenes. *Boletín de la Sociedad Chilena de Química*, 45(3), 371-376.

Atashrazm, F., Lowenthal, R. M., Woods, G. M., Holloway, A. F., & Dickinson, J. L. (2015). Fucoidan and cancer: A multifunctional molecule with anti-tumour potential. *Marine drugs*, *13*(4), 2327-2346.

Babich, H., & Borenfreund, E. (1990). Applications of the neutral red cytotoxicity assay to in vitro toxicology. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals*, *18*(1_part_1), 129-144.

Bagchi, B., Chatterjee, A., Ghosh, P., & Bothra, A. K. (2012). A theoretical investigation of cytotoxic activity of halogenated monoterpenoids from plocamium cartilagineum. *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research*, *4*, 5076-5080.

Balaji Raghavendra Rao, H., Sathivel, A., & Devaki, T. (2004). Antihepatotoxic nature of Ulva reticulata (Chlorophyceae) on acetaminophen-induced hepatoxicity in experimental rats. *Journal of medicinal food*, 7(4), 495-497.

Batters, E.A.L., 1902. A catalogue of the British marine algae being a list of all the species of seaweeds known to occur on the shores of the British Islands, with the localities where they are found. Journal of Botany, British and Foreign, 40, 1-107.

Bhosale, S. H., Nagle, V. L., & Jagtap, T. G. (2002). Antifouling potential of some marine organisms from India against species of Bacillus and Pseudomonas. *Marine biotechnology*, *4*(2), 111-118.

Blackwood, L., Murphy, S., Buracco, P., De Vos, J.P., De Fornel-Thibaud, P., Hirschberger, J., Kessler, M., Pastor, J., Ponce, F., Savary-Bataille, K. and Argyle, D.J. (2012). European consensus document on mast cell tumours in dogs and cats. *Veterinary and comparative oncology*, *10*(3), e1-e29.

Bocanegra, A., Bastida, S., Benedi, J., Rodenas, S., & Sanchez-Muniz, F. J. (2009). Characteristics and nutritional and cardiovascular-health properties of seaweeds. *Journal of medicinal food*, *12*(2), 236-258.

Borchardt, J. K. (2002). The Beginnings of drug therapy: ancient mesopotamian medicine. *Drug news & perspectives*, 15(3), 187-192.

BOUJABER, N., OUMASKOUR, K., ASSOBHEI, O., & ETAHIRI, S. (2019). Antimicrobial and anticancer activities of Laminaria ochroleuca collected from the coast of El Jadida (Morocco). *Journal of Analytical Sciences and Applied Biotechnology*, *1*(1), 1-1

Chale-Dzul, J., Freile-Pelegrín, Y., Robledo, D., & Moo-Puc, R. (2017). Protective effect of fucoidans from tropical seaweeds against oxidative stress in HepG2 cells. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, *29*(5), 2229-2238.

Chalini, K., Johnson, M., Adaikalaraj, G., Vidyarani, G., & Ramakrishnan, P. (2017). Anti-Inflammatory Activity of Aqueous Extracts of Gracilaria. *Int. J. Curr. Pharm. Res*, 9.

Chibi, F., Rchid, H., Arsalane, W., & Nmila, R. (2018). Antioxidant activity and total phenolic content of the red alga Halopitys incurvus harvested from El Jadida Coast (Morocco). *Int. J. Pharm. Phytochem. Res, 10*, 176-181.

Coura, C.O., Souza, R.B., Rodrigues, J.A.G., Vanderlei, E.D.S.O., de Araújo, I.W.F., Ribeiro, N.A., Frota, A.F., Ribeiro, K.A., Chaves, H.V., Pereira, K.M.A. and da Cunha, R.M.S. (2015). Mechanisms involved in the anti-inflammatory action of a polysulfated fraction from Gracilaria cornea in rats. *PloS one*, *10*(3), e0119319.

Cragg, G. M., & Newman, D. J. (2013). Natural products: a continuing source of novel drug leads. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects*, *1830*(6), 3670-3695.

Croci, D.O., Cumashi, A., Ushakova, N.A., Preobrazhenskaya, M.E., Piccoli, A., Totani, L., Ustyuzhanina, N.E., Bilan, M.I., Usov, A.I., Grachev, A.A. and Morozevich, G.E. (2011). Fucans, but not fucomannoglucuronans, determine the biological activities of sulfated polysaccharides from Laminaria saccharina brown seaweed. *PLoS One*, *6*(2), e17283.

Culioli, G., Ortalo-Magné, A., Daoudi, M., Thomas-Guyon, H., Valls, R., & Piovetti, L. (2004). Trihydroxylated linear diterpenes from the brown alga Bifurcaria bifurcata. *Phytochemistry*, *65*(14), 2063-2069.

da Costa, R. M. G. (2015). C-kit as a prognostic and therapeutic marker in canine cutaneous mast cell tumours: From laboratory to clinic. *The Veterinary Journal*, 205(1), 5-10.

De Almeida, C.L.F., Falcão, H.D.S., Lima, G.R.D.M., Montenegro, C.D.A., Lira, N.S., de Athayde-Filho, P.F., Rodrigues, L.C., De Souza, M.D.F.V., Barbosa-Filho, J.M. and Batista, L.M. (2011). Bioactivities from marine algae of the genus Gracilaria. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *12*(7), 4550-4573.

de Andrade Tomaz, A. C., de Miranda, G. E. C., de Souza, M. D. F. V., & da Cunha, E. V. L. (2012). Analysis and characterization of methyl esters of fatty acids of some Gracilaria species. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, *44*, 303-306.

de Inés, C., Argandoña, V. H., Rovirosa, J., San-Martín, A., Díaz-Marrero, A. R., Cueto, M., & González-Coloma, A. (2004). Cytotoxic activity of halogenated monoterpenes from Plocamium cartilagineum. *Zeitschrift für Naturforschung C*, *59*(5-6), 339-344.

de Inés, C., Argandoña, V. H., Rovirosa, J., San-Martín, A., Díaz-Marrero, A. R., Cueto, M., & González-Coloma, A. (2004). Cytotoxic activity of halogenated monoterpenes from Plocamium cartilagineum. *Zeitschrift für Naturforschung C*, *59*(5-6), 339-344.

Dey, P., Kundu, A., Kumar, A., Gupta, M., Lee, B.M., Bhakta, T., Dash, S. and Kim, H.S. (2020). Analysis of alkaloids (indole alkaloids, isoquinoline alkaloids, tropane alkaloids). In *Recent advances in natural products analysis* (pp. 505-567). Elsevier.

Dhyani, P., Quispe, C., Sharma, E., Bahukhandi, A., Sati, P., Attri, D.C., Szopa, A., Sharifi-Rad, J., Docea, A.O., Mardare, I. and Calina, D. (2022). Anticancer potential of alkaloids: a key emphasis to colchicine, vinblastine, vincristine, vindesine, vinorelbine and vincamine. *Cancer Cell International*, *22*(1), 1-20.

Díaz, R. T. A., Chabrillón, M., Cabello-Pasini, A., Gómez-Pinchetti, J. L., & Figueroa, F. L. (2011). Characterization of polysaccharides from Hypnea spinella (Gigartinales) and Halopithys incurva (Ceramiales) and their effect on RAW 264.7 macrophage activity. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, *23*(3), 523-528.

Dore, C.M.P.G., Alves, M.G.C.F., Santos, N.D., Cruz, A.K.M., Câmara, R.B.G., Castro, A.J.G., Alves, L.G., Nader, H.B. and Leite, E.L. (2013). Antiangiogenic activity and direct antitumour effect from a sulfated polysaccharide isolated from seaweed. *Microvascular research*, *88*, 12-18.

Dutta, S., Mahalanobish, S., Saha, S., Ghosh, S., & Sil, P. C. (2019). Natural products: An upcoming therapeutic approach to cancer. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *128*, 240-255.

Fenical, W. (1982). Natural products chemistry in the marine environment. *Science*, *215*(4535), 923-928.

Galasso, C., Corinaldesi, C., & Sansone, C. (2017). Carotenoids from marine organisms: Biological functions and industrial applications. *Antioxidants*, *6*(4), 96. Gallego-Jara, J., Lozano-Terol, G., Sola-Martínez, R. A., Cánovas-Díaz, M., & de Diego Puente, T. (2020). A compressive review about taxol®: History and future challenges. *Molecules*, *25*(24), 5986.

Garrett, L. D. (2014). Canine mast cell tumours: diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis. *Veterinary Medicine: Research and Reports*, *5*, 49.

Gutiérrez-Rodríguez, A. G., Juárez-Portilla, C., Olivares-Bañuelos, T., & Zepeda, R. C. (2018). Anticancer activity of seaweeds. *Drug Discovery Today*, *23*(2), 434-447.

Haefner, B. (2003). Drugs from the deep: marine natural products as drug candidates. *Drug discovery today*, 8(12), 536-544.

Hinterding, K., Knebel, A., Herrlich, P., & Waldmann, H. (1998). Synthesis and biological evaluation of aeroplysinin analogues: A new class of receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry*, *6*(8), 1153-1162.

Huang, M., Lu, J. J., & Ding, J. (2021). Natural products in cancer therapy: past, present and future. *Natural Products and Bioprospecting*, *11*(1), 5-13.

Hussain, E., Wang, L. J., Jiang, B., Riaz, S., Butt, G. Y., & Shi, D. Y. (2016). A review of the components of brown seaweeds as potential candidates in cancer therapy. *RSC advances*, *6*(15), 12592-12610.

Imbs, T. I., Krasovskaya, N. P., Ermakova, S. P., Makarieva, T. N., Shevchenko, N. M., & Zvyagintseva, T. N. (2009). Comparative study of chemical composition and antitumour activity of aqueous-ethanol extracts of brown algae Laminaria cichorioides, Costaria costata, and Fucus evanescens. *Russian Journal of Marine Biology*, *35*(2), 164-170.

Ivashkiv, B. B., Mysak, A. R., & Pritsak, V. V. (2020). Clinical characteristics of mastocytoma in dogs. *Scientific Messenger of LNU of Veterinary Medicine and Biotechnologies. Series: Veterinary Sciences*, 22(98), 144-153.

Ji, Y., Yeh, C. C., Lee, J. C., Yi, S. C., Huang, H. W., Tseng, C. N., & Chang, H. W. (2012). Aqueous extracts of edible Gracilaria tenuistipitata are protective against HO induced DNA damage, growth inhibition, and cell cycle arrest. *Molecules*, *17*, 7241-7254.

Jiang, L.L., Tang, J.X., Bo, Y.H., Li, Y.Z., Feng, T., Zhu, H.W., Yu, X., Zhang, X.X., Zhang, J.L. and Wang, W. (2020). Cytotoxic secondary metabolites isolated from the marine alga-associated fungus Penicillium chrysogenum LD-201810. *Marine drugs*, *18*(5), 276.

Kang, K. H., & Kim, S. K. (2013). Beneficial effect of peptides from microalgae on anticancer. *Current Protein & Peptide Science*, 14(3), 212-217.

Kang, Y., Wang, Z. J., Xie, D., Sun, X., Yang, W., Zhao, X., & Xu, N. (2017). Characterization and potential antitumour activity of polysaccharide from Gracilariopsis lemaneiformis. *Marine Drugs*, *15*(4), 100.

Kashyap, D., Tuli, H. S., Sak, K., Garg, V. K., Goel, N., Punia, S., & Chaudhary, A. (2019). Role of reactive oxygen species in cancer progression. *Current Pharmacology Reports*, *5*(2), 79-86.

Kaur, K., Kumar, V., Sharma, A. K., & Gupta, G. K. (2014). Isoxazoline containing natural products as anticancer agents: A review. *European journal of medicinal chemistry*, 77, 121-133.

Khazir, J., Mir, B. A., Pilcher, L., & Riley, D. L. (2014). Role of plants in anticancer drug discovery. *Phytochemistry Letters*, *7*, 173-181.

Kim, S. K. (Ed.). (2011). *Handbook of marine macroalgae: biotechnology and applied phycology*. John Wiley & Sons.

Koyanagi, S., Tanigawa, N., Nakagawa, H., Soeda, S., & Shimeno, H. (2003). Oversulfation of fucoidan enhances its anti-angiogenic and antitumour activities. *Biochemical pharmacology*, 65(2), 173-179. Kreuter, M. H., Leake, R. E., Rinaldi, F., Müller-Klieser, W., Maidhof, A., Müller, W. E., & Schröder, H. C. (1990). Inhibition of intrinsic protein tyrosine kinase activity of EGFreceptor kinase complex from human breast cancer cells by the marine sponge metabolite (+)-aeroplysinin-1. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Comparative Biochemistry*, 97(1), 151-158.

Lazarus, S. C., DeVinney, R. E. B. E. K. A. H., McCabe, L. J., Finkbeiner, W. E., Elias, D. J., & Gold, W. M. (1986). Isolated canine mastocytoma cells: propagation and characterization of two cell lines. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 251(6), C935-C944.

Lee, J. C., Hou, M. F., Huang, H. W., Chang, F. R., Yeh, C. C., Tang, J. Y., & Chang, H. W. (2013). Marine algal natural products with anti-oxidative, anti-inflammatory, and anticancer properties. *Cancer Cell International*, *13*(1), 1-7.

Li, Y. X., Wijesekara, I., Li, Y., & Kim, S. K. (2011). Phlorotannins as bioactive agents from brown algae. *Process biochemistry*, *46*(12), 2219-2224.

Lindequist, U. (2016). Marine-derived pharmaceuticals-challenges and opportunities. *Biomolecules & therapeutics*, 24(6), 561.

London, C. A., & Seguin, B. (2003). Mast cell tumours in the dog. *Veterinary Clinics: Small Animal Practice*, *33*(3), 473-489.

Lopes-Costa, E., Abreu, M., Gargiulo, D., Rocha, E., & Ramos, A. A. (2017). Anticancer effects of seaweed compounds fucoxanthin and phloroglucinol, alone and in combination with 5-fluorouracil in colon cells. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*, 80(13-15), 776-787.

Marconato, L., Gelain, M. E., & Comazzi, S. (2013). The dog as a possible animal model for human non-Hodgkin lymphoma: a review. *Hematological oncology*, *31*(1), 1-9.

Martí, R., Uriz, M. J., & Turon, X. (2004). Seasonal and spatial variation of species toxicity in Mediterranean seaweed communities: correlation to biotic and abiotic factors. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 282, 73-85.

Martins, R. M., Nedel, F., Guimarães, V. B., Da Silva, A. F., Colepicolo, P., De Pereira, C. M., & Lund, R. G. (2018). Macroalgae extracts from Antarctica have antimicrobial and anticancer potential. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *9*, 412.

Mayer, A. M. (1999). Marine pharmacology in 1998: antitumour and cytotoxic compounds. *The Pharmacologist*, 41, 159-164.

McCauley, E. P., Piña, I. C., Thompson, A. D., Bashir, K., Weinberg, M., Kurz, S. L., & Crews, P. (2020). Highlights of marine natural products having parallel scaffolds found from marine-derived bacteria, sponges, and tunicates. *The Journal of Antibiotics*, 73(8), 504-525.

McLachlan, J., & Bird, C. J. (1984). Geographical and experimental assessment of the distribution of Gracilaria species (Rhodophyta: Gigartinales) in relation to temperature. *Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen*, *38*(3), 319-334.

Moore, A. S. (2016). Treatment of T cell lymphoma in dogs. *Veterinary Record*, *179*(11), 277-277.

Namvar, F., Baharara, J., & Mahdi, A. A. (2014). Antioxidant and anticancer activities of selected Persian Gulf algae. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, *29*(1), 13-20.

Naqvi, Solimabi, S. A., Kamat, S. Y., Fernandes, L., Reddy, C. V. G., Bhakuni, D. S., & Dhawan, B. N. (1981). Screening of some marine plants from the Indian coast for biological activity.

Newman, D. J., & Cragg, G. M. (2016). Natural products as sources of new drugs from 1981 to 2014. *Journal of natural products*, *79*(3), 629-661.

O'brien, J., Wilson, I., Orton, T., & Pognan, F. (2000). Investigation of the Alamar Blue (resazurin) fluorescent dye for the assessment of mammalian cell cytotoxicity. *European journal of biochemistry*, *267*(17), 5421-5426.

Ogilvie, G. K., Hensel, P., Kitchell, B. E., Dubreuil, P., & Ahn, A. (2011). Masitinib-a targeted therapy with applications in veterinary oncology and inflammatory diseases. *CABI Reviews*, (2011), 1-11.

Oumaskour, K. H. A. D. I. J. A., Boujaber, N., Etahiri, S. A. M. I. R. A., & Assobhei, O. (2013). Anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial activities of twenty-three marine red algae from the coast of Sidi Bouzid (El Jadida-Morocco). *Int. J. Pharm. Pharm. Sci*, *5*, 145-149.

Pal, A., Kamthania, M. C., & Kumar, A. (2014). Bioactive compounds and properties of seaweeds—a review. *Open Access Library Journal*, *1*(4), 1-17.

Park, H. K., Kim, I. H., Kim, J., & Nam, T. J. (2012). Induction of apoptosis by laminarin, regulating the insulin-like growth factor-IR signaling pathways in HT-29 human colon cells. *International journal of molecular medicine*, *30*(4), 734-738.

Peng, J., Yuan, J. P., Wu, C. F., & Wang, J. H. (2011). Fucoxanthin, a marine carotenoid present in brown seaweeds and diatoms: metabolism and bioactivities relevant to human health. *Marine drugs*, *9*(10), 1806-1828.

Peng, Z., Liu, M., Fang, Z., Wu, J., & Zhang, Q. (2012). Composition and cytotoxicity of a novel polysaccharide from brown alga (Laminaria japonica). *Carbohydrate polymers*, *89*(4), 1022-1026.

Ramasamy, K., & Agarwal, R. (2008). Multitargeted therapy of cancer by silymarin. *Cancer letters*, *269*(2), 352-362.

Rhimou, B., Hassane, R., & Nathalie, B. (2010). Antiviral activity of the extracts of Rhodophyceae from Morocco. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *9*(46), 7968-7975.

Rodríguez-Nieto, S., González-Iriarte, M., Carmona, R., Muñoz-Chápuli, R., Medina, M. A., & Quesada, A. R. (2002). Antiangiogenic activity of aeroplysinin-1, a brominated compound isolated from a marine sponge. *The FASEB Journal*, *16*(2), 1-27.

Rütgen, B. C., Hammer, S. E., Gerner, W., Christian, M., de Arespacochaga, A. G., Willmann, M., ... & Saalmüller, A. (2010). Establishment and characterization of a novel canine B-cell line derived from a spontaneously occurring diffuse large cell lymphoma. *Leukemia research*, *34*(7), 932-938.

Sabri, H., Boularhbar, H., Maarouf, A., Sbahi, S., Hasni, M., Boundir, Y., Mandi, L., Kerner, M., Weinberger, F. and Cherifi, O. (2020). First assessment of pollution impact at Essaouira coast (Morocco) using biotic and abiotic parameters and the red algae Ellisolandia elongata as potential bioindicator of organic pollution. *Applied Ecology and Environmental Research*, *18*(6), 7717-7738.

Sabry, O. M., Goeger, D. E., Valeriote, F. A., & Gerwick, W. H. (2017). Cytotoxic halogenated monoterpenes from Plocamium cartilagineum. *Natural product research*, *31*(3), 261-267.

Sae-Lao, T., Luplertlop, N., Janvilisri, T., Tohtong, R., Bates, D. O., & Wongprasert, K. (2017). Sulfated galactans from the red seaweed Gracilaria fisheri exerts anti-migration effect on cholangiocarcinoma cells. *Phytomedicine*, *36*, 59-67.

Sahnouni, F., Debib, A., Saim, S., Bouhadi, D., & Menadi, S. (2021). Phytochemical content, antioxidant and antibacterial activities of three red macroalgae from Algerian West Coast. *Trop. J. Nat. Prod. Res*, *5*, 336-341.

Sakthivel, R., & Devi, K. P. (2019). Antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and anticancer potential of natural bioactive compounds from seaweeds. *Studies in Natural Products Chemistry*, *63*, 113-160.

Sakthivel, R., Muniasamy, S., Archunan, G., & Devi, K. P. (2016). Gracilaria edulis exhibit antiproliferative activity against human lung adenocarcinoma cell line A549

without causing adverse toxic effect in vitro and in vivo. *Food & function*, 7(2), 1155-1165.

Sakthivel, R., Muniasamy, S., Archunan, G., & Devi, K. P. (2016). Gracilaria edulis exhibit antiproliferative activity against human lung adenocarcinoma cell line A549 without causing adverse toxic effect in vitro and in vivo. *Food & function*, 7(2), 1155-1165.

Sampaio, T.M.M., dos Santos, A.T.L., de Freitas, M.A., Almeida-Bezerra, J.W., Fonseca, V.J.A., Coutinho, H.D.M., Morais-Braga, M.F.B., de Miranda, G.E.C. and Andrade-Pinheiro, J.C. (2022). Antifungal activity of Gracilaria cervicornis (Turner) J. Agardh against Candida spp. *South African Journal of Botany*, *150*, 146-152.

Sampaio, T.M.M., dos Santos, A.T.L., de Freitas, M.A., Almeida-Bezerra, J.W., Fonseca, V.J.A., Coutinho, H.D.M., Morais-Braga, M.F.B., de Miranda, G.E.C. and Andrade-Pinheiro, J.C. (2022). Antifungal activity of Gracilaria cervicornis (Turner) J. Agardh against Candida spp. *South African Journal of Botany*, *150*, 146-152.

Scannell, J. W., Blanckley, A., Boldon, H., & Warrington, B. (2012). Diagnosing the decline in pharmaceutical R&D efficiency. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, *11*(3), 191-200.

Schwartsmann, G., da Rocha, A. B., Berlinck, R. G., & Jimeno, J. (2001). Marine organisms as a source of new anticancer agents. *The lancet oncology*, *2*(4), 221-225.

Seelig, D. M., Avery, A. C., Ehrhart, E. J., & Linden, M. A. (2016). The comparative diagnostic features of canine and human lymphoma. *Veterinary sciences*, *3*(2), 11.

Sekis, I., Gerner, W., Willmann, M., Rebuzzi, L., Tichy, A., Patzl, M., Thalhammer, J.G., Saalmüller, A. and Kleiter, M.M. (2009). Effect of radiation on vascular endothelial growth factor expression in the C2 canine mastocytoma cell line. *American journal of veterinary research*, *70*(9), 1141-1150.

Senthilkumar, K., Manivasagan, P., Venkatesan, J., & Kim, S. K. (2013). Brown seaweed fucoidan: biological activity and apoptosis, growth signaling mechanism in cancer. *International journal of biological macromolecules*, *60*, 366-374.

Serota, R. (2011). THE EMPEROR OF ALL MALADIES: A BIOGRAPHY OF CANCER. By Siddartha Mukherjee. *Journal of Religion and Health* (50), 1055-1057.

Sheikh, E., Tran, T., Vranic, S., Levy, A., & Bonfil, R. D. (2022). Role and significance of c-KIT receptor tyrosine kinase in cancer: A review. *Bosnian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences*.

Shilling, A. J., Heiser, S., Amsler, C. D., McClintock, J. B., & Baker, B. J. (2021). Hidden Diversity in an Antarctic Algal Forest: Metabolomic Profiling Linked to Patterns of Genetic Diversification in the Antarctic Red Alga Plocamium sp. *Marine drugs*, *19*(11), 607.

Shoeb, M., & Jaspars, M. (2003). Chlorinated C12 fatty acid metabolites from the red alga Gracilaria verrucosa. *Journal of natural products*, *66*(11), 1509-1511.

Shu, M. H., Appleton, D., Zandi, K., & AbuBakar, S. (2013). Anti-inflammatory, gastroprotective and anti-ulcerogenic effects of red algae Gracilaria changii (Gracilariales, Rhodophyta) extract. *BMC complementary and alternative medicine*, *13*(1), 1-13.

Simmons, T. L., Andrianasolo, E., McPhail, K., Flatt, P., & Gerwick, W. H. (2005). Marine natural products as anticancer drugs. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, *4*(2), 333-342.

Singh, R. S., & Walia, A. K. (2018). Lectins from red algae and their biomedical potential. *Journal of applied phycology*, *30*(3), 1833-1858.

Skehan, P., Storeng, R., Scudiero, D., Monks, A., McMahon, J., Vistica, D., Warren, J.T., Bokesch, H., Kenney, S. and Boyd, M.R. (1990). New colorimetric cytotoxicity assay for anticancer-drug screening. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute, 82(13), 1107-1112.

Spavieri, J., Allmendinger, A., Kaiser, M., Itoe, M. A., Blunden, G., Mota, M. M., & Tasdemir, D. (2013). Assessment of dual life stage antiplasmodial activity of british seaweeds. *Marine drugs*, *11*(10), 4019-4034.

Suarez-Jimenez, G. M., Burgos-Hernandez, A., & Ezquerra-Brauer, J. M. (2012). Bioactive peptides and depsipeptides with anticancer potential: Sources from marine animals. *Marine drugs*, *10*(5), 963-986.

Sun, S. Q., Zhao, Y. X., Li, S. Y., Qiang, J. W., & Ji, Y. Z. (2020). Anti-tumour effects of astaxanthin by inhibition of the expression of STAT3 in prostate cancer. *Marine drugs*, *18*(8), 415.

Sun, Y., Xu, Y., Liu, K., Hua, H., Zhu, H., & Pei, Y. (2006). Gracilarioside and gracilamides from the red alga Gracilaria asiatica. *Journal of natural products*, 69(10), 1488-1491.

Tadesse, S. (2018). Why are marine ecosystems biologically more diversified than their equivalent terrestrial ecosystems. *Int J Avian & Wildlife Biol*, *3*(4), 304-305.

Taskin, E., Caki, Z., & Ozturk, M. (2010). Assessment of in vitro antitumoural and antimicrobial activities of marine algae harvested from the eastern Mediterranean sea. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *9*(27), 4272-4277.

Tello-Ireland, C., Lemus-Mondaca, R., Vega-Gálvez, A., López, J., & Di Scala, K. (2011). Influence of hot-air temperature on drying kinetics, functional properties, colour, phycobiliproteins, antioxidant capacity, texture and agar yield of alga Gracilaria chilensis. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, *44*(10), 2112-2118.

Teruya, T., Konishi, T., Uechi, S., Tamaki, H., & Tako, M. (2007). Anti-proliferative activity of oversulfated fucoidan from commercially cultured Cladosiphon okamuranus

TOKIDA in U937 cells. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, *41*(3), 221-226.

Teske, E. (1994). Canine malignant lymphoma: a review and comparison with human non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Veterinary Quarterly*, *16*(4), 209-219.

Torres, PB (2017). *Chemical characterization and biological activities of some native species of Gracilaria of economic importance* (Doctoral dissertation, Universidade de São Paulo).

Valls, R., Banaigs, B., Piovetti, L., Archavlis, A., & Artaud, J. (1993). Linear diterpene with antimitotic activity from the brown alga Bifurcaria bifurcata. *Phytochemistry*, *34*(6), 1585-1588.

Vasarri, M., Ramazzotti, M., Tiribilli, B., Barletta, E., Pretti, C., Mulinacci, N., & Degl'Innocenti, D. (2020). The in vitro anti-amyloidogenic activity of the mediterranean red seaweed Halopithys incurva. *Pharmaceuticals*, *13*(8), 185.

Vo, T. S., Ngo, D. H., & Kim, S. K. (2012). Marine algae as a potential pharmaceutical source for anti-allergic therapeutics. *Process Biochemistry*, *47*(3), 386-394.

Wang, S., Wang, L.J., Jiang, B., Wu, N., Li, X., Liu, S., Luo, J. and Shi, D. (2015). Antiangiogenic properties of BDDPM, a bromophenol from marine red alga Rhodomela confervoides, with multi receptor tyrosine kinase inhibition effects. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, *16*(6), 13548-13560.

Webster, J. D., Yuzbasiyan-Gurkan, V., Kaneene, J. B., Miller, R., Resau, J. H., & Kiupel, M. (2006). The role of c-KIT in tumourigenesis: evaluation in canine cutaneous mast cell tumours. *Neoplasia*, 8(2), 104-111.

Wijesekara, I., Pangestuti, R., & Kim, S. K. (2011). Biological activities and potential health benefits of sulfated polysaccharides derived from marine algae. *Carbohydrate polymers*, *84*(1), 14-21.

Wu, Y. J., Wei, W. C., Dai, G. F., Su, J. H., Tseng, Y. H., & Tsai, T. C. (2020). Exploring the mechanism of flaccidoxide-13-acetate in suppressing cell metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Marine Drugs*, *18*(6), 314.

Yancey, M. F., Merritt, D. A., White, J. A., Marsh, S. A., & Locuson, C. W. (2010). Distribution, metabolism, and excretion of toceranib phosphate (PalladiaTM, SU11654), a novel tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in dogs. *Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics*, 33(2), 154-161.

Yeh, C.C., Yang, J.I., Lee, J.C., Tseng, C.N., Chan, Y.C., Hseu, Y.C., Tang, J.Y., Chuang, L.Y., Huang, H.W., Chang, F.R. and Chang, H.W. (2012). Anti-proliferative effect of methanolic extract of Gracilaria tenuistipitata on oral cancer cells involves apoptosis, DNA damage, and oxidative stress. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *12*(1), 1-9.

Yotsu-Yamashita, M., Yasumoto, T., Yamada, S., Bajarias, F. F. A., Formeloza, M. A., Romero, M. L., & Fukuyo, Y. (2004). Identification of polycavernoside A as the causative agent of the fatal food poisoning resulting from ingestion of the red alga Gracilaria edulis in the Philippines. *Chemical research in toxicology*, *17*(9), 1265-1271.

Yuppa. D.P. (2012). Book review: THE EMPEROR OF ALL MALADIES: A BIOGRAPHY OF CANCER. *Psycho-Oncology*, 21(7), 1057-9249.

Zandvliet, M. (2016). Canine lymphoma: a review. Veterinary Quarterly, 36(2), 76-104.

Zbakh, H., Salhi, G., Moussa, H., & Riadi, H. (2014). Cytotoxic and antioxidant activities of the red seaweed Halopithys incurva. *Int. J. Adv. Pharm. Biol. Chem*, *3*, 2277-4688.

Zorzan, E., Elgendy, R., Giantin, M., Dacasto, M., & Sissi, C. (2018). Wholetranscriptome profiling of canine and human in vitro models exposed to a G-Quadruplex binding small molecule. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 1-11.

SITOGRAPHY

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Marine_primary_production https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gracilaria https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Laminaria_ochroleuca https://it.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ellisolandia_elongata